
Date Published:2 October 2020     

Constitution Committee

Monday 12 October 2020 at 2.00 pm

Please note that this meeting will be held remotely and can be
viewed on the County Council website at
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE Sophie 
Benfield

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 6)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 9 March 2020.

Chair

3  PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

To answer any written public questions about matters which are within the 
powers and duties of the Committee. The closing date/time for receipt 
of questions is 10.00am on 5 October 2020.

Sophie 
Benfield

4  MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

To answer any written members’ questions. The closing date/time for 
the receipt of questions is 10.00am on 5 October 2020.

Sophie 
Benfield

5  UPDATES TO GCC CONSTITUTION (Pages 7 - 100)

To consider the attached report.

Rob Ayliffe

Membership –  Cllr Richard Boyles, Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE (Chair), Cllr Colin Hay, 
Cllr Nigel Moor, Cllr John Payne, Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE, Cllr Lynden Stowe, 
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE and Cllr Will Windsor-Clive 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Acting Monitoring 
Officer, (Rob Ayliffe Tel:01452 328506/ e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior 
to the start of the meeting.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Sophie Benfield, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324094/ e-mail: sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

(d) 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are required to sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see page 81 of 

the Constitution).

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

mailto:sophie.benfield@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Constitution Committee held on Monday, 9 March 2020 at 
3pm.

PRESENT:
Cllr Richard Boyles
Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE 
(Chair)
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Nigel Moor
Cllr John Payne

Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE
Cllr Lynden Stowe
Cllr Lesley Williams MBE
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

20. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
All of the committee members were present.

21. MINUTES 
The minutes of the meeting held on 30 January 2020 were confirmed and signed as 
a correct record.

22. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
No public questions had been submitted

23. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 
No member questions had been submitted

24. INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL IRP) 
Cllr Colin Hay declared a personal interest as the current Chair of the 
Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel.  The special responsibility allowance for 
the position did not form part of the Council’s allowances scheme but the IRP had 
indicated support for the allowance to be set at the same level as a Scrutiny Chair 
at Gloucestershire County Council.

Richard Blamey, Chair of the IRP, presented the report.  He said that he had 
attended a seminar for IRP chairs across the South West in January 2020 and it 
was evident that the Council had a robust process for reviewing allowances and 
others had indicated that they would like to follow the same approach.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Fifteen councillors including Scrutiny Chairs, Group Leaders and Cabinet Members 
had attended interviews with the IRP during October 2019.  Mr Blamey stated that 
there was a strong sense of commitment to their local communities amongst county 
councillors in Gloucestershire.  He said that he was pleased to see the positive 
reaction from councillors to the Council’s new scrutiny structure.  The IRP 
recognised the value of good scrutiny and its role in ensuring good governance at 
the Council.  It was apparent that the special responsibility allowance for committee 
chairs and opposition group leaders appeared low in comparison to other local 
authorities and an increase of 4% was recommended.  He noted that the overall 
cost of increasing those allowances by 4% instead of 2% was around £1,300.   

Answering questions, Mr Blamey was not supportive of an automatic increase in 
allowances each year as he believed that it was important that the IRP had an 
opportunity to consider any changes to member roles as well as comparative data 
from other councils.   He noted that in recent years the annual allowances in 
allowances had broadly followed the staff pay rise from the previous financial year 
with small adjustments to reflect the particular circumstances at the Council.  The 
staff pay rise for 2019-20 was 2% and this was the percentage increase 
recommended for members for 2020-21 with the exception of committee chairs and 
opposition group leaders.  

The Chair recognised that it was important not to fetter the independence of the IRP 
but the normal expectation was that members’ allowances would broadly follow the 
staff pay rise from the year before.
  
RESOLVED to recommend the Council  

a) To increase the Basic Allowance from £10,300 to £10,500 (2%)
b) To increase the Special Responsibility Allowance for Committee Chairs and  

Group Leaders from £6,120 to £6,360 (4%).
c) To increase all other Special Responsibility Allowances by 2% in line with the 

recommendation for the Basic Allowance.
d) To note the revised Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2020-21 at Appendix 

B to the report.
e) To indicate support for the Special Responsibility Allowance for the Chair of 

the Police and Crime Panel to be set at the same level as a Scrutiny Chair at 
Gloucestershire County Council and authorise the Chief Executive to write to 
the six District Councils to request their support for this approach.

25. HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE 
At the Constitution Committee on 30 January 2020, the Committee
considered a proposal from Cllr Dobie to add the additional wording to the terms of 
reference of the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board terms of reference:

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

‘The Health and Wellbeing Board is subject to democratic scrutiny by Council
via the Health Scrutiny Committee, and the Adult Social Care and
Communities Scrutiny Committee. To properly consider increasingly integrated 
Health and Social Care systems, such scrutiny of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
should be done via a joint meeting of both the above committees on at least an 
annual basis. The timing of such a meeting to be agreed by the three chairs.’

The Committee agreed that a sensible approach would be to request
feedback from the Health and Wellbeing Board and the relevant scrutiny 
committees on the principle and practicalities of this proposal before considering a 
recommendation.

The Chair noted that views had been sought but he believed that the best approach 
would be to wait for new the new Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board to be 
appointed.

Members suggested that scrutiny should look at the annual report and work plan of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board and speak to relevant Cabinet Members.

RESOLVED that the matter be deferred until the new Chair of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board was appointed.

26. GLOUCESTERSHIRE LOCAL PENSION BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE 

Consideration was given to the report circulated with the agenda.  The key change 
was to increase the membership of the Pension Board from 5 to 7 to avoid issues 
around meetings not being quorate.  Some other minor changes were 
recommended to improve the effectiveness of the board.

Cllr Nigel Moor, the county councillor representative on the Pension Board, believed 
that the proposal was a sensible one and would prevent recurrence of the problem 
that had occurred.

RESOLVED to recommend to the Council that the changes to the terms of 
reference of the Pension Board be approved as indicated in the report.

27. SECTION 278 HIGHWAY AGREEMENTS 
Consideration was given to the report circulated with the agenda.  Section 278 of 
the Highways Act 1980 permitted a local highway authority to enter into
a legal agreement with a developer (in order to facilitate development) for the

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

developer to either pay for, or make alterations or improvements to the highway.  
Given the growth agenda, officers considered that it would be prudent to delegate 
the Section 278 functions to an officer of the authority, rather than the function lie 
with the Executive. This would ensure that the Executive were not burdened with 
small scale requests to enter into Section 278 agreements and ensured that the 
County Council could respond and enter into such agreements in a timely manner 
to meet the requirements of developers.

Some concerns were raised that if Section 278 agreements were too onerous then 
they might impact on Section 106 agreements governing developer contributions 
and in some cases the overall viability of new developments. 

Answering questions, Cllr Nigel Moor, the Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Planning, explained that a Section 278 agreement could not be put in place until 
after planning permission, including any related Section 106 agreement, was 
approved.  

Officers reassured members that the relevant District Council as the Planning 
Authority would be involved in the overall process.  The County Council as the 
Highway Authority would have a good understanding of the value of the highway 
work at the outset of the planning process. In normal circumstances the Highway 
Authority made arrangements for the required work to be undertaken and then 
billed the developer.

RESOLVED to recommend to the Council that the scheme of delegation be 
changed to authorise the Executive Director of Economy, Environment and
Infrastructure as set out in the appendix to the report.

28. MOTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE 
The Monitoring Officer referred to the discussion at the last meeting of the 
Constitution Committee and the recent full Council meeting regarding motions 
without notice.  He explained that the report recommended a change to Procedural 
Standing Order 11 which allowed the proposer of the substantive motion to speak 
for up to three minutes against a procedural motion.  If the proposer of the motion 
declined to speak against the procedural motion, the chair could allow one other 
member to speak for up to three minutes against the procedural motion.

RESOLVED to recommend to the Council that the following change be made to 
Procedural Standing Order 11.2.2 in Part 4 of the Constitution:

‘If a motion is moved under this Procedural Standing Order during a debate, the 
proposer of the substantive motion may speak for up to three minutes against this 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

motion.  If they decline to speak against this motion, the chair may consent to one 
other member speaking against the motion moved under this Procedural Standing 
Order.’

29. SCHEME OF DELEGATION 
The report set out a number of changes to the scheme of delegation to bring the 
Constitution in line with recent changes to job titles at Executive Director, Director, 
Assistant Director and Head of Service level.  There were also a number of other 
references to job titles which needed to be updated to reflect changes to job titles.

RESOLVED to recommend to the Council that the changes to the Constitution 
shown in Appendix 1 to the report be adopted.

30. POLICY FRAMEWORK 
The Monitoring Officer advised that the report was seeking the committee’s views 
on proposed changes to the Council’s Policy Framework.  He explained that the 
Policy Framework determined those strategies and plans that were the 
responsibility of the Council as a whole, rather than the Executive.  Those 
strategies and plans could only be agreed or amended by full Council, though the 
Cabinet was responsible for developing those strategies and plans and bringing 
proposals to full Council.  The regulations that were in place when the Council’s 
Constitution was drafted had been superseded over the years by piecemeal 
legislative changes.  This meant that there was potential for a lack of clarity about 
what was the remit of Council and what it was for Cabinet to decide.  As part of a 
wider review and refresh of the Constitution, it made sense to update the Policy 
Framework to make sure that it reflected both current legislation and local choice.  

The committee recognised the value of undertaking a wider review of the 
Constitution including the Policy Framework.  It was noted that a report would be 
presented to a future meeting.

CHAIR

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Constitution Committee 
Changes to Constitution 

 
Date:  12 October 2020 Agenda Item:   
 

Title of Report Updates to GCC Constitution 
 

Purpose of Report To propose a number of changes to the Gloucestershire 
County Council constitution 
 

Recommendations That the committee recommends to County Council the 
changes set out in this report 
 

Officer Contact Rob Ayliffe 
Monitoring Officer 
Tel: 01452 328506 
 

 
 
  

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



1. The role of the Monitoring Officer includes a responsibility to keep the Council’s 

Constitution under regular review in order to ensure that it complies with the law, 

and to secure the convenient, efficient and effective discharge of any function.  In 

support of this, an end-to-end review of the Constitution has been carried out 

over recent months.  

 

2. As the first stage of this review, this report sets out a number of recommended 

changes to various sections of the Constitution.  The purpose of these changes 

is to: 

 
a. Bring the constitution up to date with current council practices or 

structures, where it has not kept pace with those changes 

 

b. Bring the constitution up to date with legislative changes, and remove 

redundant references 

 
c. Address anomalies in the constitution that could cause ambiguity or 

confusion, such as the inclusion of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth 

Joint Committee under the heading of regulatory (non-executive) 

committees, when it is actually fulfilling an executive function. 

 
d. Rectify typographical or cross-referencing errors 

 
3. Annex 1 sets out the resulting recommendations as tracked changes to the 

existing text.  For clarity, the reason or rationale for each change is set out 

beneath each section in yellow highlighted text.  

 

4. Alongside this , further work is being undertaken to review and redraft the 

following sections of the constitution: 

 

 Financial Regulations 

 Contract Standing Orders 

 Rules on Access to Information  

 Protocol on Public Address at Planning Committee 

 Member Code of Conduct (in order to respond to the Model Code of 

Conduct being developed by the Local Government Association) 

 

These will be brought for discussion to a future meeting of the Committee. 

 
Ends

Page 8



Annex 1:  Proposed Amendments to Constitution 
 

CONTENTS 

 
   

Part 1 Summary and Explanation  

Part 2 Articles of the Constitution  

 Article 1 The Constitution  

 Article 2 Members of the County Council  

 Article 3 The public and the County Council  

 Article 4 The Full Council  

 Article 5 Chair of the Council  

 Article 6 The Cabinet  

 Article 7 Decision making  

 Article 8 Scrutiny of decisions  

 Article 9 

Article 10 

Audit and Governance Committee Regulatory and other 

committees 

 

 Article 11 Area committees  

 Article 12 Joint arrangements  

 Article 13 Officers  

 Article 14 Finance, contracts and legal matters  

 Article 15 Review and revision of the Constitution  

 Article 16 Suspension, interpretation and publication of the Constitution  

Part 3 Responsibility for Functions  

 Introduction  

 The functions of full Council  

 Local choice functions  

Page 9



 Full Council functions of a regulatory nature (non-Cabinet functions) 

 Appeals Committee 

 Appointments Committee 

 Constitution Committee 

 Pensions Committee 

 Pensions Board 

 Planning Committee 

 Council regulatory functions 

 Safety and Licensing Committee 

 Commons and Rights of Way Committee 

 Traffic Regulation Committee 

 Audit and Governance Committee 

 Scrutiny Committees 

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

 Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel 

 

 Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee 

 

 Responsibility for executive functions  

 Scheme of delegation  

 Joint arrangements  

 Policy on distribution of functions  

Part 4 Rules of Procedure  

Part 4 Procedural Standing Orders  

 Annual Meeting of the County Council  

 Ordinary Meetings   

 Extraordinary Meetings   

 Location and times of full Council meetings  

 Notice and summons to meetings  

 Chair of meeting  

 Quorum  

 Questions from the public  

 Questions by members  

 Notices of motion  

Page 10



 Motions without notice  

 Rules of debate  

 Previous decisions and motions  

 Voting  

 Minutes  

 Record of attendance  

 Exclusion of the public  

 Members conduct  

 Members interests in contracts and other matters  

 Disturbance by the public  

 Photography and audio recordings of meetings  

 Electronic communication  

 Suspension and amendment of Procedural Standing Orders  

 Authority of the Chair  

 Group Leaders and Lead Members  

 Application of Procedural Standing Orders to other Council bodies 

Election of Chair and Vice-Chair of committees 

Appointment of substitute members of committees 

 

Part 4 Rules on access to information about the County Council’s 
formal business 

 

 Introduction  

 The public’s right to attend meetings  

 The public’s right to obtain copies of the agenda to meetings and reports 
and documents that are to be discussed at meetings 

 

 Sub-committees, panels and groups  

 Decisions by the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and Officers  

 Minutes of meetings  

 Charges for the supply of agenda, reports and background papers  

 The special rules that apply to ‘key decisions’ 
 

Exceptions to the need to publish notice of a key decision 28 days in 
advance 
 

 

 The general exception rule  

 The special urgency rule  

 Scrutiny Committees  

 Elected Members’ additional rights of access to information  

Page 11



 Additional rights of access to information by Scrutiny Committees  

 Elected Members’ duty of confidence  

   

Part 4 Policy Framework and Budget Procedure Rules  

 The framework for Cabinet decisions  

 Process for developing the framework  

 Full Council decision and Leader’s objection  

 Decisions outside the Policy Framework or budget  

 Urgent decisions outside the Policy Framework or budget  

 The call-in of decisions outside the Policy Framework or budget  

Part 4 Cabinet Procedure Rules  

 Membership of the Cabinet  

 The role of the Cabinet  

 Publication of proposed decisions and decisions taken  

 Conflicts of interest  

 Cabinet meetings  

 Key decisions  

 Cabinet agenda  

 How are the Cabinet meetings conducted? 
Questions at Cabinet meetings 
 

 

 Business conducted at meetings of the Cabinet  

 Consultation  

 Cabinet liaison arrangements  

 Appointment of Cabinet panels  

 Other groups and Cabinet business  

Part 4 Scrutiny Procedure Rules  

 Number and arrangements for Scrutiny Committee  

 Co-ordination  

 Membership  

 Casual vacancies  

 Co-optees  

 Education representatives  

 Chair and Vice-chair of Scrutiny Committees  

 Meetings of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

Page 12



 Meetings of the Scrutiny Committees (other than the Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee) 
 

 

 Quorum  

 Work programmes  

 Agenda items  

 Councillor call for action  

 Policy review and development  

 Reports from Scrutiny Committees  

 Members and Officers giving account  

 Attendance by others  

 Call-in and review and scrutiny of decisions  

 Procedure at Scrutiny Committee meetings  

 Scrutiny Task Groups  

   

Part 4 Call-in Procedure Rules  

 Scope  

 Publication of Cabinet decisions and implementation  

 Grounds for call-in  

 Call-in procedure  

 Call-in and deferring implementation  

 Consideration by the relevant Scrutiny Committee  

 Action by the relevant Scrutiny Committee  

 Action by the Cabinet, Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member  

 Response to the relevant Scrutiny Committee  

 Call-in of urgent decisions  

 Call-in of decisions outside the Policy Framework and budget  

 Call-in template  

Part 4 Panel Operating Principles  

Part 4 Financial Regulations  

 General introduction  

 Financial Regulation A: Financial management  

 Financial Regulation B: Financial planning  

 Financial Regulation C: Risk management and control of resources  

 Financial Regulation D: Systems and procedures  

Page 13



 Financial Regulation E: External arrangements  

Part 4 Contract Standing Orders  

 Purpose  

 General provisions  

 Gateway Review  

 Contracts for Goods and Services  

 Invitation to Tender  

 Selective Tendering - Standing Lists  

 Selective Tendering - No Standing List  

 Advertising Contracts  

 Contracts for Works  

 Invitation to Tender  

 Selective Tendering – Standing Lists  

 Selective Tendering - No Standing List  

 Advertising Contracts  

 Submission and Opening of Tenders   

 Acceptance of Tenders   

 Contract Conditions  

 Procurement Gateway Form  

Part 4 Officer Employment Procedure Rules  

 Recruitment and appointment  

 Cabinet consultation - senior Officers  

 Appointment of political assistants  

 Other appointments  

 Disciplinary action - Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer  

 

Part 5 Codes and Protocols   

Part 5 Protocol on Public Address at Planning Committee  

 Notification of the wish to speak  

 Speaking limits  

 Speaking in sequence  

 Requirements for “Permitted Speakers”  

Part 5 Members’ Code of Conduct  

Part 5 Code of Conduct for Employees  

Page 14



Part 5 Protocol on the relationship between Officers and Members   

 Introduction  

 The role of elected Members  

 The role of Officers  

 Sources of difficulty  

 Political neutrality  

 Confidentiality  

 Dealing with the press  

 Member pressure on Officers  

 Blurring public and private roles  

 The role of group leaders and senior Officers  

Part 5 Members’ Protocol on Gifts and Hospitality  

 Introduction  

 What should be registered  

Gifts 

Hospitality 

Examples 

 

 The Register of Gifts and Hospitality  

Part 5 Members’ Allowances Scheme  

 Basic allowance  

 Special responsibility allowances  

 Other allowances for approved duties 

Travelling 

Subsistence 

Carers’ allowance 

 

 How to claim  

 VAT  

 Income Tax  

 National Insurance contributions  

 Social Security benefits  

 Renunciation  

 Financial loss allowance and non-elected Members  

 Reimbursing expenses for non-Councillors  

 Contact points  

Page 15



 List of approved duties  

Part 5 Parental Leave for Councillors  

 Introduction  

 Leave periods  

 Basic Allowance  

 Special Responsibility Allowances  

 Resigning from office and elections  

 Representative role  

 Review  

Part 5 Protocol on decisions to be taken by Executive Members  

 Introduction  

 Context  

 Decision making framework  

 Publication of information before decisions are taken by Executive Members  

 Publication of information after decisions are taken by Executive Members  

 Calling in executive decisions  

 Proformas  

 Confidential and exempt information  

 Review  

Part 5 Management Structure  

 Senior Management Structure  

Part 5 Petition Scheme  

Part 5 Remote Meetings Protocol and Procedure Rules  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 16



 

PART 1 

SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 17



PART 2 

ARTICLES OF THE CONSTITUTION 

[No changes are proposed to Articles 1 & 2] 

Article 3 – The public and the County Council 

 

3.01 The rights of the public regarding the Council's business  

 

The public have the following rights: 

 

3.01.1 To attend meetings of the Council and its committees and of the Cabinet, except where 

confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed; 

 

3.01.2 To find out from the Forthcoming Executive Decision List what and when key decisions 

will be taken by the Cabinet; 

 

3.01.3 To inspect agendas, reports, background papers and minutes, subject to exceptions, in 

respect of confidential and exempt information.  These rights are explained in the Rules 

on Access to Information about the County Council Formal Business in Part 4 of this 

Constitution;  

 

3.01.4 At certain times of the year, the public are also entitled to inspect the Council’s 

accounts and express their views on them to its external auditor (whose name and 

address may be obtained from the Executive Director of Corporate Resources).   

 

3.02 Executive Arrangements 

 

In addition to their right to vote in elections or referenda, people who are on the electoral 

register for Gloucestershire are entitled to petition for a referendum to replace the Leader and 

Cabinet of the County Council with an elected mayor and Cabinet.  Information on this right may 

be obtained from the Head of Democratic Services.   

 

People who live or work in Gloucestershire are entitled to petition the Council on various issues 

either through paper-based petitions or e-petitions. The petitions scheme is available on the 

County Council website or from Democratic Services. 

 

3.03 Participation 

 

Page 18



The people of Gloucestershire have the right to ask questions at meetings of the full Council 

and its committees (except Scrutiny Committees).  These rights are explained by Procedural 

Standing Orders 8 and 26 which may be found in Part 4 of this Constitution.   

 

3.04 Complaints 

 

The public may complain to: 

 the Council about its services under the Council's complaints scheme process or 

information compliance procedures;, 

  after having complained under the Council’s scheme, to the Local Government and 

Social Care Ombudsman after having exhausted the Council’s own complaints process; 

 the Information Commissioner’s Office, about the Council’s information rights practices, 

or 

  if they believe the Council has failed to carry out its duties properly.  Complaints about 

the conduct of County Councillors and co-opted Members of the Council may be made 

to the Monitoring OfficerThe Council’s Monitoring Officer about the conduct of County 

Councillors and co-opted Members of the Council.   

 

[Amended to make clearer and to include a reference to complaints in relation to information 

rights] 

 

 

[No changes are proposed to Articles 4 & 5] 

Article 6 – The Cabinet 

 

6.01 The role of the Leader 

 

The Leader of the Council is responsible for allocating all functions, which, by law or this 

Constitution, are not required to be the responsibility of the Council or any other part of the 

Council. 

 

6.02 The composition of the Cabinet 

 

6.02.1 The Cabinet is made up of the Leader of the Council (who must be a County 

Councillor) and up to nine other County Councillors.  Full Council is responsible for 

appointing the Leader of the Council (who leads the Cabinet) at the Annual Meeting of 

the Council following a regular election or, if the Council fails to elect a Leader at that 

post election annual meeting, at a subsequent meeting of the Council.  The Leader of 

the Council is responsible for determining the number of other Members of the Cabinet, 

which shall be between two and nine, also for appointing them and allocating portfolios 

to those appointees.  If a vacancy shall occur in the membership of the Cabinet, a 

replacement may be appointed by the Leader;    

 

Page 19



6.02.2 There may be no co-optees, deputies or substitutes for Members of the Cabinet. 

 

6.03 The Leader of the County Council 

 

The term of office of the Leader will start on the day of their election as Leader and end on the 

day of the next post election annual meeting unless: 

 

6.03.1 They are removed from office by a simple resolution of the full Council at an earlier 

date or 

 

6.03.2 They resign from office; or 

 

6.03.3 They cease to be a County Councillor. 

 

If the Council passes a resolution to remove the Leader, a new Leader shall be elected at the 

meeting at which the Leader is removed from office or at a subsequent meeting. 

 

6.04 Deputy Leader 

 

6.04.1  The Leader shall appoint one of the Members of the Cabinet to be their deputy, to hold 

office until the end of the term of office of the Leader unless they resign as Deputy 

Leader or cease to be a Member of the Council or is removed from office by the Leader 

under the following provision; 

 

6.04.2  The Leader may, if they think fit, remove the Deputy Leader from office and must then 

appoint another Member of the Cabinet in their place;  

 

6.04.3  If for any reason the Leader is unable to act or the office of Leader is vacant, the 

Deputy Leader must act in their place. 

 

6.05 Other Cabinet Members 

 

6.05.1 Only County Councillors may be appointed to the Cabinet but neither the Chair nor 

Vice Chair of the Council may be Members of the Cabinet.  Cabinet Members hold 

office on the same terms as the Leader of the Council, which are set out in Article 6.03; 

 

6.05.2 The Leader may, if they think fit, remove a Cabinet Member from office;  

 

[Added to remove any ambiguity and make consistent with 6.04.2] 

 

6.05.23 Members of the Cabinet may not be members of a Scrutiny Committee.   

 

6.06 Proceedings of the Cabinet 

 

Page 20



Meetings of the Cabinet will be conducted in accordance with the Cabinet Procedure Rules that 

are described in Part 4 of the Constitution.   

 

6.07 Responsibility for functions 

 

Cabinet Members have responsibility for leading particular areas of the Cabinet’s work.  These 

responsibilities are determined by the Leader and are set out in Part 3 of the Constitution.   

 

6.08 Delegation to individual Members of the Cabinet 

 

The Scheme of Delegation determined by the Leader and set out in Part 3 of the Constitution, 

delegates certain functions to Members of the Cabinet.  Cabinet functions may be exercised by 

the Cabinet, a Cabinet Committee, a Cabinet Member, Officers, an area committee or by joint 

committees with other Local Authorities.   

 

6.09 Appointments to outside bodies 

 

6.09.1 The Council is one of a number of organisations that enter into partnerships with other 

public sector and with private sector organisations.  It is represented on such 

partnership bodies by County Councillors and Officers, who must be formally appointed 

to them.  The appointments process is what is called a “local choice function”, which 

means that it may be exercised by the Cabinet or the full Council;   

 

6.09.2 In line with the Secretary of State’s advice, the Cabinet will make appointments to 

those bodies with functions, which are its responsibility.  Other appointments will be 

made by or on behalf of the full Council.  A list of all appointments to outside bodies will 

be maintained by the Head of Democratic Services.   

 

[No changes are proposed to Articles 7 to 12] 

 

Article 13 - Officers 

 

13.01 Management structure 

 

13.01.1 General 

 

 The Council will engage Officers to enable it to carry out its functions. 

 

13.01.2 Statutory Officer Postss 

 . 

Position Legislation 

Head of Paid Service Local Government and Housing Act 

1989 – Section 4 

Page 21



Chief Finance Officer Local Government Act 1972 – Section 

151 

Monitoring Officer Local Government and Housing Act 

1989 – Section 5 

Director of Adult Social Care Local Authorities Social Services Act 

1970 – Section 6 

Director of Children’s Services Children’s Act 2004 – Section 18 

Director of Public Health National Health Service Act 2006 – 

Section 73A 

Statutory Scrutiny Officer Local Government Act 2000 – Section 

9FB 

Data Protection Officer General Data Protection Regulations 

Articles 37 to 39. Data Protection Act 

2018 Part 3, Chapter 4, sections 69-71 

 

[Updated with relevant legislation] 

 

13.02 The role of the Head of the Paid Service 

 

 The role of the Head of the Paid Service is to report to the Council on how the Council ought to 

be staffed, managed and organised so that it operates efficiently and effectively.  The Head of 

the Paid Service may not be the Monitoring Officer but they may be the Chief Financial Officer if 

they are a qualified accountant. 

 

13.03 The role of the Monitoring Officer 

 

 The role of the Monitoring Officer is to ensure that the Council operates within the law and its 

Constitution and deals with local people and businesses fairly and reasonably (that is, without 

“maladministration”).  Where the Monitoring Officer discovers the Council has or proposes to 

break the law or that it has or proposes to act unfairly, they must make a report to the Cabinet (if 

the matter is an executive function) or the full Council (in any other case). 

 

13.04 The role of the Chief Financial Officer 

 

 The role of the Chief Financial Officer is to ensure that the Council uses and manages its 

financial resources wisely and that decisions relating to the use of the Council’s financial 

resources are lawful and prudent.  

 

13.05 Conduct of Officers 

 

Officers are required to comply with the Code of Conduct for Employees and the Protocol on 

Relationships between Officers and Members, which may be found in Part 5 of the Constitution. 

 

Page 22



13.06 Employment and dismissal of Officers 

 

Officers will be recruited and dismissed in accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure 

Rules that are set out in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 

[No changes are proposed to Articles 14 to 22] 

23. SUSPENSION AND AMENDMENT OF PROCEDURAL STANDING ORDERS 

 

23.1 Suspension 

 

Any of these Procedural Standing Orders, except this Procedural Standing Order and 

Procedural Standing Order 10.8 9 and those relating to a Member’s right to have their 

individual vote recorded and the requirement to sign the minutes at the next suitable 

meeting, may be suspended on consideration of a motion for which notice has been 

given or, if the motion is put without notice, when at least half of the total number of 

Members of the Council, that is 27 Members, are present.  The rule can only be 

suspended while the meeting is in progress.  Suspension shall last only for so long as 

the matter, for which Procedural Standing Orders were suspended, is under 

discussion. 

 

23.2 Amendment 

 

Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Procedural Standing Orders, other than a 

motion to adopt a recommendation of the Cabinet or other Council body, will, when 

proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to be dealt with at the 

next ordinary meeting of the Council.   

 

[Cross-reference amended to refer to correct paragraph to rectify error introduced by 

insertion of a new paragraph when Procedural Standing Order 10 – Notice of 

Motions was last revised] 

[No changes are proposed to Articles 24 to 28] 

 

 

 

  

Page 23



PART 3 

RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

 

Introduction 

 

The Local Government Act 2000 and regulations made under the Act, distribute responsibility 

for the Council’s functions between the full Council and the Executive (which is known as the 

“Cabinet”).  The law therefore specifies certain Council functions and by whom decisions in 

respect of those functions may or may not be taken.  Any functions not specified by the law are 

the responsibility of the Cabinet.  The allocation of functions within this Constitution is intended 

to reflect the law but in the event of any conflict, the law shall prevail. 

 

The volume of the Council’s business makes it quite impracticable for the full Council of 53 

Members to make every decision that lies within its remit.  The full Council has therefore 

delegated certain of its functions to other “Council bodies”, which are known as “Committees”.  

Under the law, the full Council and the Cabinet may also delegate power to Officers, and 

Cabinet Members and Joint Committees to make decisions that they could make.  The 

distribution of these powers to Officers and Cabinet Members is set out in what is known as the 

“Scheme of Delegation”, which is set out in Sections 4,  and 5 and 6 of Part 3 of the 

Constitution. 

 

The dispersal of responsibility for making decisions is necessary because it assists the effective 

and efficient administration of local government.  The Council, however, recognises that those 

who exercise power on behalf of the Council ought to be accountable for the decisions that they 

make.  This part of the Constitution describes the powers that may be exercised by the full 

Council, the Cabinet and other Council bodies, and sets out the scheme of delegation of those 

functions.  From this, the public may discover who may make decisions about various matters. 

 

[Reference included to Joint Committees and related new section – see below] 

Page 24



SECTION 1 - THE FUNCTIONS OF THE FULL COUNCIL 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

SECTION 2 - LOCAL CHOICE FUNCTIONS 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

SECTION 3 - FULL COUNCIL FUNCTIONS OF A REGULATORY NATURE (NON-CABINET 

FUNCTIONS) 

 

The full Council has established the following Council bodies to exercise certain of its functions: 

 

3.1 Appeals Committee 

3.2 Appointments Committee 

3.3 Constitution Committee 

3.4 Pensions Committee 

3.5 Pensions Board 

3.6 Planning Committee 

3.7 Safety & Licensing Committee 

3.8 Commons & Rights of Way Committee 

3.9 Traffic Regulation Committee 

3.10 Audit & Governance Committee 

3.110 Scrutiny Committees 

3.121 Health and Wellbeing Board 

3.132 Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel 

3.13 Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee 

3.14 Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee 

 

[Amended to correct omission of Audit & Governance Committee, deletion of Joint 

Waste Committee and move of Economic Growth Joint Committee to a new section] 

 

  

Page 25



3.1 APPEALS COMMITTEE 

 

The role of the Appeals Committee is, in essence, to act as a forum for hearing and determining 

complaints by employees, pupils and other individuals and to make arrangements for the 

determination of certain appeals in accordance with the law and under the Council’s own 

grievance and other procedures.  The duties of the Appeals Committee are set out in Table 

3.01. 

 

Table 3.01: The duties of the Appeals Committee 

 

1. Individual appeals by the Chief Executive or Directors reporting directly to the Chief 

Executive under the Council’s Managing Performance Improvement Procedure and any 

other employment related procedure that expressly provides for a right of appeal to elected 

members. 

2. The making of arrangements for the determination of admission appeals in accordance with 

Section 94(1) and (4) of and Schedule 24 to the School Standards and Framework Act 

1998. 

3. The making of arrangements for the determination of appeals by Governing Bodies 

concerning children to whom Section 87 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 

applies in accordance with Section 95(2) of and Schedule 25 to that Act. 

4. The making of arrangements for the review of decision to exclude pupils in accordance with 

Section 52 of the Education Act 2002 and regulations made thereunder. 

5. Appeals under Regulation 11 of the Access to Personal Files (Social Services) Regulations 

1989. 

6. Appeal against the exercise of the Council’s functions as a Social Services Authority. 

7. Act as an independent appeal panel and assess appeals lodged by parents, guardians, 

carers and other professionals against the decision of the County Council to decline 

requests for transport. 

8. Subject to any other requirements of the Constitution, any other appeals (where a right of 

appeal exists either by law or where the Council has expressly determined there shall be a 

right of appeal) against executive or non-executive decisions made by or on behalf of the 

Council. 

 

Appeals Committee Membership: 

 

15 County Councillors 

 

County Councillors shall have completed training approved by the Monitoring Officer before 

taking part in decisions by this Committee 

 

Note:  For the purpose of hearing appeals relating to home to school transport there shall be a 

panel of three members taken from the 15 trained members of the committee. 

Page 26



3.2 APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE 

 

The purpose of the Appointments Committee is to enable Members to play a full role in deciding 

which persons should be employed, or not, as the Council’s most senior Officers and to 

determine terms of employment. 

 

Table 3.02:  The duties of the Appointments Committee 

 

To be responsible for: 

 

1. Recommending to the full Council the appointment (on a permanent or temporary or acting up 

basis) of the Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service. 

2. Determining any disciplinary matters short of dismissal in relation to the Head of Paid Service, 

Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer. 

3.       Making recommendations to full Council regarding dismissal of, the Head of Paid Service, 

Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer. 

24. The appointment (on a permanent or temporary or acting up basis) of the Chief Finance Officer, 

Monitoring Officer, the Chief Fire Officer, the Director of Public Health, and all Executive 

Directors, including the statutory posts of Director of Children’s Services and Director of Adult 

Social Care. 

5. 3.   The dismissal of the Chief Fire Officer, the Director of Public Health and all Executive 

Directors, including the statutory posts of Director of Children’s Services and Director of Adult 

Social Care.the Executive Director of Children’s Services, the Executive Director of Adult Social 

Care and the Executive Director of Economy, Environment and Infrastructure. 

64. Determining the terms of employment and any variation to those terms of employees of the 

Council including terms of employment and exercising employer discretions in relation to 

pensions. 

75. Subject to any other provisions of the Council's Constitution, determining any other matters 

affecting employees of the Council. 

 

 

[Amended to bring into line with relevant regulations and current GCC senior 

management structure] 

 

  

Page 27



Appointments Committee Membership: 

6 County Councillors  

 

1. At least one of whom must be a Member of the Cabinet;  

2. At least one of whom should be a Cabinet Member whose portfolio of duties includes 

responsibility for the service in which an appointed Officer would be employed.  This 

requirement should be met by a County Councillor appointed to membership of the 

Appointments Committee being substituted by the appropriate Cabinet Member of the 

same political party in order to meet political balance requirements.  This requirement 

will not apply in connection with the appointment (on a permanent or temporary or 

acting up basis) of the Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service (including their terms and 

conditions of employment and any variation to those terms and conditions).  Failure to 

comply with this requirement will not invalidate any proceedings of the Appointments 

Committee. 

3. For decisions relating to the conduct and capability of those officers listed under items 

2 and 3 in Table 3.02 above the Appointments Committee will operate through a 

politically-balanced sub-committee acting as an Investigating and Disciplinary panel 

comprising up to 5. 

43. For decisions on the appointment of those officers detailed at item 2 4 in Table 3.02 

above the Appointments Committee will operate through a sub-committee acting as an 

interviewing panel comprising up to 5 (politically balanced). 

54. Council has resolved that for joint appointments with the NHS in Gloucestershire, which 

are within the remit of the Appointments Committee, a sub-committee should be 

established comprising  up to 5 members to be drawn from the Appointments 

Committee’s membership and shall be politically balanced. 

 

Note 1: Reference should be made to the consultation required under paragraph 2 of the 

Officer Employment Rules to be found in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

Note 2: There is granted to the Chief Executive express delegated authority (in consultation 

with the relevant Cabinet Members, Group Leaders and relevant Scrutiny Chair) to 

appoint on an interim basis to the position of Director within the employment of the 

Council for a maximum period of up to six months. 

 

[Amended to bring into line with relevant regulations and latest GCC senior 

management structure] 

 

  

Page 28



3.3 CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE 

 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

 

 

3.4 PENSIONS COMMITTEE 

 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

 

 

3.5 PENSIONS BOARD 

 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

 

3.6 PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

Parliament has decided that the Cabinet should not be responsible for determining applications 

for permissions, approvals, licenses, consents and certificates under the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 and other related statutes.  The Council has therefore established the 

Planning Committee to carry out these functions. 

 

Table 3.05: The duties of the Planning Committee 

 

 (1) 

Function 

(2) 

Provision of Act or Statutory Instrument 

   

1. Power to determine application for 

planning permission. 

Sections 70(1)(a) and (b) and 72 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 (c.8). 

2. Power to determine applications to 

develop land without compliance 

with conditions previously attached. 

Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 

3. Power to grant planning permission 

for development already carried 

out. 

Section 73A of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 

4. Power to decline to determine 

application for planning permission. 

Section 70A of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 

Page 29



5. Duties relating to the making of 

determinations of planning 

applications. 

Sections 69, 76 and 92 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 and Articles 8, 10 to 13, 15 to 22 

and 26 of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Development Procedure) Order 1995 (S.I.1995/419)) 

and directions made thereunder. 

6. Power to determine applications for 

planning permission made by a 

Local Authority, alone or jointly with 

another person. 

Section 316 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 and the Town and Country Planning General 

Regulations 1992 (S.I.1992/1492). 

7. Power to make determinations, give 

approvals and agree certain other 

matters relating to the exercise of 

permitted development rights. 

Parts 6, 7, 11, 17, 19, 20, 21 to 24, 26, 30 and 31 of 

Schedule 2 to the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted Development) Order 1995 

(S.I.1995/418). 

8. Power to enter into agreement 

regulating development or use of 

land. 

Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 

9. Power to issue a certificate of 

existing or proposed lawful use or 

development. 

Sections 191(4) and 192(2) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 (c). 

10. Power to serve a completion notice. Section 94(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 

11. Power to authorise entry onto land. Section 196A of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 

12. Power to require the discontinuance 

of a use of land. 

Section 102 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 

13. Power to authorise the issue and 

service by the Head Assistant 

Director of Legal Services of a 

planning contravention notice, or 

breach of condition notice or stop 

notice. 

Sections 171C, 183 (1)  and 187A of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990. 

13A Power to authorise the issue and 

service by the Assistant Director 

Head of Legal Services of a stop 

notice or temporary stop notice. 

Sections 171E to 171H of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 

14. Power to authorise the issue and 

service by the Assistant Director 

Head of Legal Services of an 

enforcement notice. 

Section 172 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 

15. Power to apply for an injunction 

restraining a breach of planning 

control. 

Section 187B of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 

Page 30



16. Power to determine applications for 

hazardous substances consent and 

related powers. 

Sections 9(1) and 10 of the Planning (Hazardous 

Substances) Act 1990 (c.10). 

17. Duty to determine conditions to 

which old mining permissions, 

relevant planning permissions 

relating to dormant sites or active 

Phase I or II sites, or mineral 

permissions relating to mining sites, 

as the case may be, are to be 

subject. 

 

Power to require proper 

maintenance of land. 

Paragraph 2(6)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Planning and 

Compensation Act 1991, paragraph 9(6) of Schedule 

13 of the Environment Act 1995 (c.25) and paragraph 

6(5) of Schedule 14 to that Act. 

 

 

 

 

Section 215(1) Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

18. Power to require proper 

maintenance of land. 

Section 215(1) Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

198. The obtaining of information on 

interests in land. 

Section 330 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 

2019. The obtaining of particulars of 

persons interested in land. 

Section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1976. 

210. Powers relating to the preservation 

of trees. 

Sections 197 to 214D of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 and the Trees Regulations 1999 

(S.I.1999/1892). 

2122. Powers relating to the protection of 

important hedgerows. 

The Hedgerows Regulations 1997 (S.I.1997/1160). 

232. Any function in relation to 

contaminated land. 

 

243. Any function relating to the control 

of pollution or management of air 

quality. 

 

254. Power to consider applications to 

assess environmental effects in 

relation to applications to develop 

land. 

Section 71A of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990, the Town and Country Planning (Environmental 

Impact Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations 

1999 (SI 1999/293) or any regulations amending or 

replacing the same. 

Page 31



2526. Any other function relating to town 

and country planning that is the 

responsibility of the County Council 

as Local Planning Authority arising 

under any Act of Parliament now or 

in the future and any statutory 

instrument or order made 

thereunder and which is not 

reserved by the law or the 

Constitution to the full Council, the 

Cabinet or another Council body. 

 

 

Planning Committee Membership:  

 

15 County Councillors 

 

County Councillors shall have completed training approved by the Monitoring Officer before 

taking part in decisions by this Committee. 

 

Council Regulatory Functions 

 

Parliament has decided that a wide range of powers connected with the granting, revocation 

and variation of permissions, licenses, consents and certificates should not be exercised by the 

Cabinet.  The Council has therefore delegated these functions to the Safety and Licensing 

Committee, Commons and Rights of Way Committee and Traffic Regulation Committee. 

 

[Amended to bring into line with current legislation and job titles] 

 

 

  

Page 32



3.7 SAFETY AND LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 

The duties of the Safety and Licensing Committee are set out in Table 3.06. 

 

Table 3.06:  The duties of the Safety and Licensing Committee 

 

1. Duty to keep list of persons entitled to 

sell non-medicinal poisons. 

Sections 31(1)(b)(ii), 5, 6 and 11 of the Poisons Act 

1972 (c.6)(g). 

2.1. All fFunctions for in relation to sports 

grounds including the power to issue, 

amend or replace safety certificates 

(whether general or special) for sports 

grounds. 

The Safety of Sports Grounds Act 1975 (c.52) (as 

amended by Part II of the Fire Safety and Safety of 

Places of Sport Act 1987 (c.27)). 

3.2. All functions for regulated stands at 

sports grounds including power to issue, 

cancel amend or replace safety 

certificates for regulated stands at 

sports gounds. 

Part III of the Fire Safety and Safety of Places of 

Sport Act 1987 (c.27). 

4.3. Power to license the employment of 

children. 

Part II of the Children and Young Persons Act 1933 

(c.33), byelaws made under that Part, and Part II of 

the Children and Young Persons Act 1963 (c.37). 

5.4. Power to approve premises for the 

solemnisation of marriages. 

Section 46A of the Marriage Act 1949 (c.76) and the 

Marriages (Approved Premises) Regulations 1995 

(S.I.1995/510). 

6.5. Power to grant a street works licence. Section 50 of the New Roads and Street Works Act 

1991 (c.22). 

7.6. Power to license agencies for the 

supply of nurses. 

Section 2 of the Nurses Agencies Act 1957 (c.16). 

8. Power to issue licences for the 

movement of pigs. 

Article 12 of the Pigs (Records, Identification and 

Movement) Order 1995 (S.I.1995/11). 

9. Power to license the sale of pigs. Article 13 of the Pigs (Records, Identification and 

Movement) Order 1995. 

10. Power to register animal trainers and 

exhibitors. 

Section 1 of the Performing Animals (Regulation) 

Act 1925. 

11. Power to issue a licence to move cattle 

from a market. 

Article 5(2) of the Cattle Identification Regulations 

1998 (S.I.1998/871). 

12. Power to sanction use of parts of 

buildings for storage of celluloid. 

Section 1 of the Celluloid and Cinematograph Film 

Act 1922 (C.35). 

Page 33



13.7. Functions under any of the “relevant 

statutory provisions” within the meaning 

of Part I (health, safety and welfare in 

connection with work and control of 

dangerous substances) of the Health 

and Safety at Work etc Act 1974, to the 

extent that those functions are 

discharged otherwise than in the 

Authority’s capacity as an employer. 

Part I of the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 

(c.37). 

 

Safety and Licensing Committee Membership:  

 

9 County Councillors 

 

County Councillors shall have completed training approved by the Monitoring Officer before 

taking part in decisions by this Committee 

 

[Amended to bring into line with current legislation] 

 

 

  

Page 34



 

3.8 COMMONS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

 

The duties of the Commons and Rights of Way Committee are set out in Table 3.07. 

 

Table 3.07: The duties of the Commons and Rights of Way Committee 

 

1. Power to register common land or town or village 

greens, except where the power is exercisable solely 

for the purpose of giving effect to : 

 

(a) Aan exchange of lands effected by an oOrder 

under sSection 19(3) of, or paragraph 6(4) of 

Schedule 3 to, the Acquisition of Land Act 1981 

(c.67).; or 

 

(b) An Order under Section 147 of the Inclosure 

Act 1845 (c.8 & C.9 Vict.c.118). 

Regulation 6 of the Commons 

Registration (New Land) Regulations 

1969 (S.I.1969/1843). 

2. Power to register variation of rights of common and 

to make amendments to the register of common land 

and town and village greens of any identified 

anomalies. 

Regulation 29 of the Commons 

Registration (General) Regulations 

1966 (S.I.1966/1471)(a)). Section 

19(2)(a) and Paragraphs 6-9  of 

Schedule 2 of the Commons Act 2006 

implemented by the Commons 

Registration (England) Regulations 

2014 (S.I. 2014/3038) 

3. Duty to keep a definitive map and statement under 

review. 

Section 53 of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 (c.69). 

4. Power to include modifications in other orders Section 53A of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 

5. Duty to keep register of prescribed information with 

respect to applications under section 53(5) of the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

Section 53B of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 

6. Power to prepare map and statement by way of 

consolidation of definitive map and statement 

Section 57A of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 

7. Power to designate footpaths as cycle tracks Section 3 of the Cycle Tracks Act 1984 

4. Duty to reclassify roads used as public paths. Section 54 of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981. 

8.5. Power to create footpath,  or bridleway or restricted 

byway by agreement. 

Section 25 of the Highways Act 1980 

(c.66). 

9.6. Power to create footpaths and bridleways and 

restricted byways. 

Section 26 of the Highways Act 1980. 

10.7. Duty to keep a register of information with respect to 

maps, statements and declarations. 

Section 31A of the Highways Act 1980. 

Page 35



11. Power to apply to stop up highway Section 116 of the Highways Act 1980 

12.8. Power to stop up footpaths, and bridleways and 

restricted byways. 

Section 118 of the Highways Act 1980. 

13.9. Power to determine application for public path 

extinguishment order. 

Sections 118ZA and 118C(2) of the 

Highways Act 1980. 

10.14. Power to make a rail crossing extinguishment order. 

 

Section 118A of the Highways Act 

1980. 

11.15. Power to make a special extinguishment order. Section 118B of the Highways Act 

1980 

12.16. Power to divert footpaths, and bridleways and 

restricted byways. 

Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980. 

13.17. Power to make a public path diversion order. 

 

Sections 119ZA and 119C(4) of the 

Highways Act 1980. 

14.18. Power to make a rail crossing diversion order. 

 

Section 119A of the Highways Act 

1980. 

19.15. Power to make a special diversion order. 

 

Section 119B of the Highways Act 

1980. 

20.16. Power to require applicant for order to enter into 

agreement. 

Section 119C(3) of the Highways Act 

1980. 

21. Power to make an SSSI diversion order Section 119 of the Highways Act 1980 

22. Duty to keep register with respect to applications 

under sections 118Z, 118C, 119ZA and 119C of the 

Highways Act 1980. 

Section 121B of the Highways Act 

1980 

23. Power to decline to determine certain applications Section 121C of the Highways Act 

1980 

24. Duty to serve notice of proposed action in relation to 

obstruction 

Section 130 A of the Highways Act 

1980 

25.17. Power to enter into agreements with respect of 

access. 

Section 35 of the Countryside and 

Rights of Way Act 2000 (c.37). 

26.18. Power to provide access in absence of agreement Section 37 of the Countryside and 

Rights of Way Act 2000. 

27. Power to extinguish certain public rights of way Section 32 of the Acquisition of Land 

Act 1981 

28. Duty to publish notice in respect of proposal to grant 

permission under section 115E of the Highways Act 

1980 

Section 115G of the Highways Act 

1980 

29. Power to apply for stopping up or diversion of 

highways 

Section 247 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 

30.19. Any other function relating to the County Council’s responsibilities for highways, commons, 

town and village greens under any Act of Parliament enacted now or in the future and any 

statutory instrument or order made thereunder, which is not reserved by law or under this 

Constitution to the full Council, the Cabinet or another Council body. 

 

Page 36



Commons and Rights of Way Committee Membership:  

 

9 County Councillors 

 

County Councillors shall have completed training approved by the Monitoring Officer before 

taking part in decisions by this Committee 

 

[Amended to bring into line with current legislation] 

Page 37



3.9 TRAFFIC REGULATION COMMITTEE 

 

The duties of the Traffic Regulation Committee are set out in Table 3.08. 

 

Table 3.08:  The duties of the Traffic Regulation Committee 

 

1. Power to permit deposit of a 

builders’ skip on the highway. 

Section 139 of the Highways Act 1980 (c.66). 

2. Power to license planting, retention 

and maintenance of trees, etc, in 

part on highway. 

Section 142 of the Highways Act 1980. 

3. Power to authorise erection of 

stiles, etc, on footpaths or 

bridleways. 

Section 147 of the Highways Act 1980. 

4. Power to license works in relation to 

buildings, etc, which obstruct the 

highway. 

Section 169 of the Highways Act 1980. 

5. Power to consent to temporary 

deposits or excavations in streets. 

Section 171 of the Highways Act 1980. 

6. Power to dispense with obligation to 

erect hoarding or fence. 

Section 172 of the Highways Act 1980. 

7. Power to restrict the placing of rails, 

beams, etc, over highways. 

Section 178 of the Highways Act 1980. 

8. Power to consent to construction of 

cellars, etc, under street. 

Section 179 of the Highways Act 1980.  

9. Power to consent to the making of 

openings into cellars, etc, under 

streets, and pavement lights and 

ventilators. 

Section 180 of the Highways Act 1980. 

10. Duty to assert and protect the rights 

of the public to use and enjoyment 

of highways. 

Section 130 of the Highways Act 1980. 

11. Power to apply for variation of order 

under Section 130B of the 

Highways Act 1980 

Section 130B(7) of the Highways Act 1980 

12. Power to authorise temporary 

disturbance of surface of footpath, 

bridleway or restricted byway 

Section 135 of the Highways Act 1980 

13. Power to temporarily divert 

footpaths, bridleways or restricted 

byways. 

Section 135A of the Highways Act 1980 

14. Functions relation to the making 

good of damage and the removal of 

obstructions 

Section 135B of the Highways Act 1980 

Page 38



15.11. Powers relating to the removal of 

things so deposited on highways as 

to be a nuisance. 

Section 149 of the Highways Act 1980 

16.2. To respond to consultation upon 

executive proposals for traffic 

regulation orders to which valid 

objections have been received and 

not been resolved or withdrawn. 

 

 

Traffic Regulation Committee Membership: 

 

9 County Councillors 

 

County Councillors shall have completed training approved by the Monitoring Officer before 

taking part in decisions by this Committee 

 

[Amended to bring into line with current legislation] 

 

 

  

Page 39



3.10 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

 

3.11 SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

 

Introduction 

 

3.11.1 The roles of scrutiny committees are set out in Article 8 of the Constitution. 

 

 

3.11.2 The Council will appoint the scrutiny committees set out in the left hand column of the 

table below to discharge the scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council (as conferred 

by Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000, Sections 7-10 of the Health and 

Social Care Act 2001 and Section 19 Police and Justice Act 2006) as set out in the 

right hand column of the same table.   

 

 Scrutiny committee Terms of reference 

Corporate Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 

 

13 County Councillors 

(to include the chairs of 

the 5 other Scrutiny 

Committees) 

1. Carry out the scrutiny functions of the County Council 

delivering the roles set out in Article 8 of the Constitution 

by providing a corporate overview of performance, the 

budget, risk management and service improvement. 

 

2. Strategic overview of Council services including cross-

cutting scrutiny in consultation with the other Scrutiny 

Committees 

 

3. Carry out the scrutiny functions of the County Council 

delivering the roles set out in Article 8 of the Constitution 

by scrutinising those County Council functions not 

covered by other Scrutiny Committees.  These include 

support services included within the Core Council group. 

 

4. To coordinate the work of the Scrutiny Committees as 

necessary including determining which committee should 

look at a particular issue if there is a dispute.   

 

5.         To oversee the rules relating to the operation of task 

groups as indicated in procedure rule 3.11.40.7.  

[Cross-reference corrected] 

Page 40



Children and Families 

Scrutiny Committee 

 

9 County Councillors 

 

3 parent governor 

representatives 

 

1 Church of England 

Diocese representative 

 

1 Roman Catholic 

Diocese representative 

 

1. Carry out the scrutiny functions of the County Council 

delivering the roles set out in Article 8 of the Constitution 

in the context of all matters relating to: 

 children’s safeguarding 

 looked after children and care leavers 

 early help 

 early years including children’s centres 

 special educational needs and disability 

 adoption and fostering 

 children with disabilities 

 school improvement, access and place planning 

 school funding 

 

Health Overview and  

Scrutiny Committee 

 

9 County Councillors 

 

6 Co-opted District 

Councillors 

1. Carry out the scrutiny functions of the County Council 

delivering the roles set out in Article 8 of the Constitution 

focussing on health issues from the public’s perspective 

including the use of task groups to carry out its scrutiny 

functions. To act as a lever to improve the health and 

those services that impact on the health of local people, 

working in partnership with other agencies.  To address 

issues of health inequalities between different groups in 

the community.  To determine those matters referred to 

in Article 11.02.2 of the Constitution (joint committees 

concerning health service changes). 

 

2. Under the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 

Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 

2013, to exercise the Council’s role: 

 

  in reviewing and scrutinising matters 

relating to the planning, provision and 

operation of health services in the area; 

and 

 In commenting on or making a 

recommendation in relation to proposals 

for a substantial development or variation 

to services save that ‘referral powers’ to 

the Secretary of State remain with full 

Council. 

 

Adult Social Care and 

Communities Scrutiny 

1. Carry out the scrutiny functions of the County Council 

delivering the roles set out in Article 8 of the Constitution 

Page 41



Committee 

 

 

 

in the context of all matters relating to: 

 adults single programme 

 services for vulnerable people including adult 

safeguarding 

 public health 

 community development (recognising that other 

committees cover aspects of this area) 

 fire and rescue service 

 residential and nursing care 

 road safety 

 parking  

 emergency management 

 trading standards  

 libraries and registration service 

 coroners 

2. Scrutinise the actions and decisions of the responsible 

authorities under Section 5 of the Crime and Disorder Act 

1998 in relation to their crime and disorder functions. 

 

Environment Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

9 County Councillors 

1. Carry out the scrutiny functions of the County Council 

delivering the roles set out in Article 8 of the Constitution 

in the context of matters relating to 

 highways and infrastructure 

 community resilience planning including climate 

change adaption and flood resilience 

 air quality 

 sustainable procurement 

 public and community transport 

 minerals and waste planning 

 energy including energy from waste and green 

energy promotion 

 waste disposal, waste reduction and recycling 

Gloucestershire 

Economic Growth 

Scrutiny Committee 

 

6 County Councillors 

 

6 Co-opted District 

Councillors 

1. To review the decisions, plans and policies of the 

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee and 

2.        To review the overall impact and delivery outcomes of the 

Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Plan and to make 

recommendations to the Gloucestershire Local Enterprise 

Community Interest Company and Gloucestershire 

Economic Growth Joint Committee on issues and 

improvements. 

 

  

Page 42



Meetings and proceedings of the Scrutiny Committees 

 

3.11.3 Meetings of the Scrutiny Committees shall take place in accordance with Scrutiny 

Procedure Rules 9 and 10. 

 

3.11.4   Scrutiny Task Groups 

 

1. This paragraph section 3.110.74 shall apply to all Scrutiny Task Groups. 

 

[Cross reference corrected] 

 

2.   All Scrutiny Task Groups will undertake work in relation to key targets for service 

areas, the Council’s key priorities and issues of public interest or concern.   

 

3. Where the commissioning of a Scrutiny Task Group is urgently required, the lead 

members of the relevant Scrutiny Committee may agree to do so in advance of the 

next  committee meeting. 

 

4. Before each Scrutiny Task Group begins its work, the terms of reference will be agreed 

by the relevant Scrutiny Committee or its lead members. 

 

5. The final report of each Scrutiny Task Group will be presented to the relevant Scrutiny 

Committee, which may as a result, make recommendations to any Council body or any 

other public body or third party or, exceptionally, the full County Council.   

 

6. Unless there are exceptional circumstances, there will be no more than six Scrutiny 

Task Groups in existence at any one time, in general limited to two Scrutiny Task 

Groups per Committee. 

 

7. Each Scrutiny Task Group may adopt whatever means of operation it deems most 

effective, bearing in mind the resources available to it.   

 

3.11.5 Proceedings of the Scrutiny Committees 

 

Scrutiny committees will conduct their proceedings in accordance with the Scrutiny Procedure 

Rules set out in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 

 

3.12 HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

Page 43



3.13 GLOUCESTERSHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL  

 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

 

3.14 GLOUCESTERSHIRE JOINT WASTE COMMITTEE 

1. Pursuant to a partnership arrangement between Cheltenham Borough Council, Cotswold 

District Council, Forest of Dean District Council, Tewkesbury Borough Council and 

Gloucestershire County Council,  the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee was 

formed under Sections 101 and 102 of the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local 

Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions (England) Regulations 2012, to 

oversee the recycling, waste collection and street cleansing services for the four district 

authorities, and to deliver the waste treatment and disposal services for the County.  

 

2. The aims of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Committee are to:  

 

a) Provide a shared decision making body from which to improve services, deliver 

savings and minimise costs;  

b) Ensure a fair distribution of savings between partners and their council tax 

payers; 

c) Provide and improve good customer service within the bounds of the resources 

available;   

d) Undertake operations in an environmentally sustainable manner, and  

e) Identify and share initiatives and best practice amongst partner authorities. 

 

3. Subject to the retained functions set out in paragraph 4 below, the statutory functions 

delegated to the Committee relating to the collection, management, disposal, treatment, 

or recycling of waste street cleansing  are as follows: 

 

Environmental Protection Act 1990 Part II 

Section 34 Duty of Care - to prevent the unlawful deposit or treatment of waste in 

your control 

Section 45 Duty to collect waste in your area and to make arrangements to collect, 

to collect commercial waste where requested. 

Section 46 Authority to serve notice on householders to use prescribed receptacles 

for waste and to put them out for collection 

Page 44



Section 47 Authority to provide commercial customers with receptacles 

Section 48 Duty to deliver waste collected to specific places (as specified by the 

WDA) 

Section 51 Duty to arrange for disposal and duty to provide HRCs 

Section 52 Duty to pay recycling credits 

Section 55 Duty to make arrangements to recycle waste 

 

Waste and Emissions Trading Act 2003 

Section 9 Duty not to exceed allowances 

Section 12 Duty to maintain records of biodegradable waste sent for 

treatment/disposal 

Section 31 Power to make directions to WCAs as to separation of waste 

Section 32 Duty to have in place a Joint Strategy for waste 

 

Waste Minimisation Act 1998 

Section 1 Power to take steps to minimise waste 

 

Household Waste and Recycling Act 2003 

Section 1 Duty to collect at least two types of recyclable waste 

 

Environment Act 1995 

Section 108 Powers to take action to investigate pollution incidents or where 

harm to human health has been caused by pollution 

Section 109 Powers to take action to prevent pollution or harm to human 

health 

 

Clean Neighbourhoods & Environment Act 2005 

Part 2 Abandoned Vehicles  

Page 45



Part 3 Litter and Refuse 

Part 4  Graffiti 

Part 5  Waste 

 

Local Government Act 1972   

Section 111 Powers to act as a local authority In so far as its use is calculated 

to facilitate or is incidental or conducive to the discharge of any of 

the functions referred to in paragraphs (a) to (h) listed below 

 (a) European Community Strategy for Waste Management 1989 

(as reviewed in 1996); 

(b) EU Directive 757 4427 EEC as amended by Directive 917 

1567 EEC and adapted by Directive 967 3507 EEC on Waste 

(The Framework Directives on Waste); 

 (c) Environmental Protection Act 1990; 

 (d) Public Health Act 1936; 

 (e) Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003; 

 (f) Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005; 

 (g) Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978 (insofar as this relates to 

abandoned vehicles, public safety and amenity); 

 (h) Environmental Protection (Waste Recycling Payments) 

Regulations 1992 (as amended 1994) 

 

Localism Act 2011 

Section 1 Power of General Competence 

 

4. The functions retained by the individual partner authorities include: 

a) Authorising changes to the Inter Authority Agreement, (agreed framework for 

the committee);   

b) Budget setting; 

c) Service changes; 

d) Collection and disposal methods and policy changes to such collection and 

disposal methods; 

e) Procurement decisions in respect of the functions; 

f) Enforcement proceedings or other legal action in respect of the functions; 

g) Corporate media communications 

 

5. The membership of the committee comprises two elected members from each partner 

authority on a ‘one member, one vote’ basis. Each partner authority shall appoint two of 

Page 46



its members as its representatives, one of which will be a member of the partner 

authority’s Executive.  

 

6. Each member shall remain in office until removed or replaced by their appointing partner 

authority, or in the case of an executive member, until they cease to be a member of the 

executive of the appointing partner authority. 

 

7. Where a substitute member takes the place of a committee member who is an executive 

member of the appointing partner authority, the substitute member must also be a 

member of the executive. The substitute member shall have the same rights of speaking 

and voting at meetings as the member for whom the substitution is made.  

 

8. The committee will meet formally in public session on a quarterly basis with informal 

meetings, workshops and visits arranged as and when required.  

 

9. The committee may appoint working groups, comprising Gloucestershire Joint Waste 

Committee members; officers from the Administering Authority, and officers of any of the 

partner authorities, to consider specific matters and to report back to the committee with 

recommendations. Each partner authority may also send any of its officers to committee 

meetings to support its members or anyone invited to observe at meetings. 

 

10. Decisions made by the committee shall be subject to the scrutiny arrangements of the 

relevant partner authority.  

 

11. A Chair and Vice Chair will be elected at the first committee meeting, and annually 

thereafter at the Annual General Meeting.  

 

12.1. The quorum for a meeting shall be five committee members, which shall include 

at least one member appointed by each of the five different partner authorities. No 

business shall be transacted unless quorum is reached. If quorum is not reached within 

30 minutes of the start of the meeting, (or if quorum ceases to be present during a 

meeting), the meeting shall be adjourned to the same time and venue within five working 

days of the meeting or to a date determined by the Chair.  

 

[Section deleted – committee no longer operational] 

3.15    GLOUCESTERSHIRE ECONOMIC GROWTH JOINT COMMITTEE 

 

1. Pursuant to a partnership arrangements between Cheltenham Borough Council, Cotswold 

District Council, Gloucester City Council, Stroud District Council and Tewkesbury Borough 

Council, Forest of Dean District Council  and Gloucestershire County Council, the 

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee was formed under Sections 101, 102 of 

the Local Government Act 1972 and under Part 1A Chapter 2 Section 9EB of the Local 

Page 47



Government Act 2000 and pursuant to the Local Authorities (Arrangements for the 

Discharge of Functions (England) Regulations 2012 

 

2. The functions of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee are as follows: 

 

2.1. Each of the Councils empowers the Joint Committee to discharge on their behalf the 

power to do anything it considers likely to achieve the promotion or improvement of the 

economic wellbeing of the area of Gloucestershire together with such additional 

functions as the respective constituent Councils may determine from time to time. 

 

2.2. To facilitate and enable collaboration between the local authorities on economic 

development and associated activities. 

 

2.3. In conjunction with the GFirst LEP Board, to formulate and agree the Gloucestershire 

Strategic Economic Plan GFirst LEP Plan (and Implementation Plans), the GFirst LEP 

EU Structural and Investment Fund Strategy, and other plans and strategies related to 

economic growth, and to work jointly to ensure their delivery. 

 

2.4. To lobby and carry out other activities that help achieve the promotion or improvement 

of the economic wellbeing of the area of Gloucestershire. 

 

2.5. To promote the vision contained in the Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Plan and to 

make recommendations to the GFirst LEP Board on any other matter relating to the 

economic wellbeing of Gloucestershire. 

 

2.6. To have insight and the opportunity to review the GFirst LEP Board’s activities and 

consider any further measures necessary to strengthen the relationship with the GFirst 

LEP Board. 

 

2.7. To seek the allocation of resources to achieve the promotion or improvement of the 

economic wellbeing of the area of Gloucestershire. 

 

2.8. To ensure a co-ordinated approach to and liaise with the:- 

 

 Local Transport Board 

 County Strategic Planning and Infrastructure Group 

 LEP Investment Panel 

 EU Structural and Investment Fund Board 

 Business Rates Pool Arrangements 

 

and other relevant Groups/Boards as the respective constituent Councils may 

determine from time to time. 

 

2.9 To provide political and democratic accountability by: 

Page 48



 Monitoring the delivery of each priority, plan, project or programme included in 

the SEP and by ensuring that action is taken to review and prepare revised 

action plans as necessary 

 Monitoring the annual SEP budget 

 Reviewing the annual SEP Report of GFirst LEP 

 Advising and making recommendations to the Accountable Body. 

 

3. The membership of the committee comprises  

 

3.1. one elected member from each partner authority on a ‘one member, one vote’ basis.   

Such member to be the leader (or other appointed executive member where executive 

arrangements are in place) from each partner authority. 

 

3.2. the Chair and one other Board member of GFirst LEP or Substitute Board Members 

notified in advance (non-voting). 

 

4. Each Committee member shall remain in office until removed or replaced by their appointing 

local authority, or in case of an executive member, until they cease to be a member of the 

Executive of the appointing local authority. 

 

5. Where a substitute member takes the place of a committee member who is an executive 

member of the appointing partner authority, the substitute must also be a member of the 

executive.  The substitute member shall have the same rights of speaking and voting at 

meetings as the member for whom the substitution is made. 

 

6. The Committee will meet formally in public session on a quarterly basis with informal 

meetings, workshops and visits arranged as and when required. 

 

7. The Committee may appoint working groups, comprising Gloucestershire Economic Growth 

Joint Committee members; officers from any of the partner authorities to consider specific 

matters and to report back to the committee with recommendations or any sub-committee 

with recommendations.  Each partner authority may also send any of its officers to 

committee meetings to support its members or anyone invited to observe at meetings. 

 

8. A Chair and Vice-Chair will be elected at the first committee meeting and annually thereafter 

at the Annual General Meeting. 

 

9.1. The quorum for a meeting shall be four voting members.  If quorum is not reached within 

30 minutes of the start of the meeting, (or if quorum ceases to be present during a meeting), 

the meeting shall be adjourned to the same time and venue five business days later or to 

such other date, time and venue as the Chair (or other person who is chairing the meeting) 

shall determine. 

 

 

Page 49



[It is proposed to move the Terms of Reference for the Gloucestershire Economic 

Growth Committee to a new section on Joint Arrangements] 

Page 50



 

SECTION 4 – RESPONSIBILITY FOR EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS 

 

[No changes are proposed to sections 4.1 to 4.5] 

 

4.6 The Leader of the Council may appoint up to five Cabinet Project Champions to assist 

the Cabinet with its work.  Cabinet Project Champions do not have executive powers. 

The Leader has assigned the following roles: 

 

Cabinet Champion Infrastructure Planning 

Cabinet Champion Community Empowerment 

Cabinet Champion Culture and Change 

Cabinet Champion Care Leavers 

 

[Reference to specific Cabinet Champion roles removed to avoid the need to update the 

constitution whenever they change.] 

  

Page 51



 

SECTION 5 - SCHEME OF DELEGATION 

 

5.1 The Council is required to make very many executive and non-executive decisions 

every day.  It would be quite impracticable to make all or many of these decisions 

through full Council, the Cabinet and other Council bodies. The full Council, Cabinet 

and, under the Council’s new executive arrangements from June 2009, the Leader, are 

able to delegate powers to the Cabinet, individual Cabinet Members and to Officers.  

Such powers are called “delegated powers” and the distribution of responsibility 

amongst the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and Officers for making 

decisions under delegated powers is set out in this Scheme.  Such powers must be 

exercised in accordance with the conditions specified in paragraphs 5.2 to 5.8 below. 

 

This scheme does not delegate to the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and 

Officers: 

 

5.1.1 Except under delegation CE1 any matter reserved to full Council (see 

Tables 1 and 2 of this Part of the Constitution);  

 

5.1.2 Any matter that by law may not be delegated to the Leader of the Council, 

a Cabinet Member or Officer. 

 

[Outdated reference removed] 

 

5.2 Delegated powers must be exercised in accordance with: 

 

5.2.1 The law; 

 

5.2.2 All of the rules, procedures, codes and protocols contained in the 

Council’s Constitution;  

 

5.2.3 Council policy. 

 

5.3 Before exercising delegated powers, the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and 

Officers must satisfy themselves that the decision is: 

 

5.3.1 Authorised by law and, if in doubt, will consult with the Assistant Director 

of Legal Services;  

 

5.3.2 Within budget (allowing for such variance as may be permitted under the 

Council’s Financial Regulations) and if in doubt will consult with the 

Executive Director of Corporate Resources. 

 

5.4 Before exercising delegated powers the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and 

Officers must consider whether it would be advantageous and/or prudent to consult 

Page 52



 

with the Leader of the Council, another Cabinet Member or any other Member of the 

Council and/or Officer, and whenever they consult with another will carefully consider 

any response that they receive.   In any event, consultation will always be required with 

all persons referred to in the column “Consultation under paragraph 5.4” in the table 

below headed Particular Delegations to Officers and in accordance with paragraph 5.9. 

 

5.5 Before exercising delegated powers, Officers will consider whether the use of a power 

might be regarded as sensitive or contentious by Members of the Council and if it 

appears that this will be the case, they will: 

 

5.5.1 In respect of any executive function, consult with the Leader of the 

Council or Cabinet Member with responsibility for that area;  

 

5.5.2 In respect of any non-executive function, consult with the Chair and other 

political groups’ Lead Members of the committee having responsibility for 

that matter and any Member of the Council whose electoral division will be 

affected by the exercise of delegated powers. 

 

5.6 In the absence of a Cabinet Member or if a Cabinet Member is unable to or should not 

exercise a delegated power, the Leader of the Council may exercise that delegated 

power. 

 

In the absence of the Leader of the Council or if the Leader of the Council is unable to 

or should not exercise a delegated power or other power under the Constitution, any 

Cabinet Member or the Cabinet may exercise those powers. 

 

5.7 The Officers named in this scheme shall be deemed to include any other Officer of the 

Council that they authorise in writing to exercise delegated powers on their behalf 

provided: 

 

5.7.1 An Officer named in this scheme must maintain a written record of any 

other Officer they have authorised to exercise delegated powers on their 

behalf and any limitation that they have imposed on the extent and 

duration or other exercise of those powers in addition to those specified in 

this scheme;  

 

5.7.2 A copy of the information specified in paragraph 5.7.1 must be given to 

the Monitoring Officer before another Officer exercises a power on behalf 

of a named Officer and the Monitoring Officer shall place this information 

on a register that, in accordance with Section 100G of the Local 

Government Act 1972, will be maintained for inspection by the public. 

 

5.8 The Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members and Officers must maintain a complete and 

permanent written record of all executive decisions, which must (as a minimum) include: 

Page 53



 

 

5.8.1 A dated record of that decision; 

 

5.8.2 A record of the reasons for the decision; 

 

5.8.3 Details of any alternative options considered and rejected at the time by the 

person when making the decision; 

 

5.8.4 A record of any consultation with Members and/or Officers 

 

5.8.5 A record of any conflict of interest declared by any Executive Member who is 

consulted in relation to the decision; and 

 

5.8.6 In respect of any declared conflict of interest a note of any dispensation granted 

by the Audit and Governance Committee of the Council. 

 

Note: Records of all executive decisions are required to be available for public inspection after 

the decision has been taken, in the same way as Cabinet papers. 

 

5.9 There shall be delegated to the Leader of the Council and each Cabinet Member all 

executive functions, duties or powers of the Council within their area of responsibility as 

specified in paragraph 4.4 of Section 4 of the Constitution.  In exercising such 

functions, duties or powers, the Leader and Cabinet Members will consult with the 

Director or Head of any service area affected by their decision. 

 

5.10 The functions, powers and duties identified in the table below headed “Particular 

Delegations to Officers” are delegated to Officers of the Council.  Any Officer referred 

to in the “Appropriate Officer” column of the table below and to whom powers have 

been delegated, shall include any other person subsequently taking on that Officer’s 

responsibilities. 

 

5.11 The Executive Director: Children and Families has responsibility for the statutory 

functions of the Director of Children's Services in accordance with Section 18 of the 

Children Act 2004.  

 

5.12 The Officer designated as Director of Adult Social  Care in accordance with Section 

6(A1) of the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970 (as inserted by paragraph 2(2) of 

Schedule 2 to the Children Act 2004) shall be the Executive Director: Adults 

 

5.13 Particular Delegations to Officers 

 

Page 54



 

Decision 

Category 

Number 

Function, duty or 

power to be delegated 

Appropriate Officer Consultation 

under 

paragraph 

5.4 

CE1 To take any decision that 

could be taken by the 

Council, the Cabinet, any 

committee or any Officer 

(provided such action is 

taken in accordance with 

the law, Rules on Access 

to Information about the 

County Council’s Business 

and the Cabinet Procedure 

Rules). 

Chief Executive. 

 

Council 

function - 

Chair and 

Leader of the 

Council. 

 

Cabinet 

function - 

Leader of the 

Council or 

Cabinet 

Member, as 

appropriate. 

 

Committee 

function - 

Chair and 

Lead 

Members 

CE2 To be the Proper Officer of 

the County Council in 

relation to Section 270(3) 

of the Local Government 

Act 1972. 

Chief Executive N/A 

CE3 To fill casual vacancies on 

committees, in accordance 

with Sections 15-17 of the 

Local Government & 

Housing Act 1989. 

Chief Executive Group leader 

of the political 

group entitled 

to appoint a 

Member to 

any committee 

by virtue of 

any vacancy 

that has arisen 

CE4 To be the Returning Officer 

for County Council 

elections and undertake 

the functions of the Council 

in relation to elections. 

Chief Executive N/A 

Page 55



 

CE5 To permanently appoint, 

determine the terms of 

appointment and terminate 

the appointment of all staff 

(except those Officers 

within the responsibility of 

the Appointments 

Committee) under Section 

112 of the Local 

Government Act 1972. 

 

Chief Executive Executive 

Director of 

Corporate 

Resources 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

To appoint on a temporary 

or acting up basis for up to 

one year, determine the 

terms of appointment and 

terminate the appointment 

of those Officers within 

paragraph 2 of the duties 

of the Appointments 

Committee. 

 

All Cabinet 

Members 

Group 

Leaders and 

relevant 

Scrutiny Chair. 

 

To appoint on an interim 

basis and for a maximum 

period of up to six months 

to the positions of those 

officers within paragraph 2 

of the duties of the 

Appointments Committee. 

 

All Cabinet 

Members 

Group 

Leaders and 

relevant 

Scrutiny Chair. 

DCR 1 To be responsible for and 

do anything required for 

the proper administration 

of the financial affairs of 

the Council. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

DCR 2 To make arrangements for 

the financing of the capital 

programme of the Council 

by borrowing, leasing or 

other arrangements. 

 

 

 

 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

Leader of the 

Council or 

Cabinet 

Member, as 

appropriate. 

Page 56



 

DCR 3 The functions, duties or 

powers of the Pensions 

Committee. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

Chair of the 

Pensions 

Committee for 

all decisions 

with financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

 

DCR 4 To formulate and issue 

general guidelines to 

Officers on financial 

matters including 

insurance and the writing-

off of debts. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

DCR 5 To determine 

arrangements for treasury 

management in 

accordance with the 

Council’s policy statement 

and approved treasury 

management practices and 

where relevant CIPFA’s 

Standard of Professional 

Practice on Treasury 

Management. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

DCR 6 To make arrangements for 

the Internal Audit of the 

Council. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

DCR 7 To manage the County 

Fund and all subsidiary 

accounts and any reserve 

or other fund. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

DCR 8 To operate the Local 

Government 

Superannuation 

Regulations, including the 

exercise of discretion 

under those Regulations. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for all 

decisions with 

financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

 

DCR 9 To implement national and 

local pay awards and 

increase payments under 

the Pension Increase Act. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

Page 57



 

DCR 10 To make finance leasing 

arrangements and 

authorise and make any 

other financial transaction 

including the borrowing 

and lending of money. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for all 

decisions with 

financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

 

DCR 11 To authorise the writing-off 

of stock, other than 

through fair wear and tear. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

DCR 12 To effect adequate 

insurance cover for the 

Council. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

DCR 13 To exercise all other 

functions relating to the 

Financial Management of 

the Council. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

DCR 14 To acquire and dispose of 

any interest in land and 

manage the Council’s 

estate. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for all 

decisions with 

financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

 

DCR 15 

 

To manage the provision of 

information technology 

services to the Council. 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

DCR 16 To manage the function 

relating to Communications 

and Engagement 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

DCR 17 To exercise all other 

functions relating to 

support services except for 

functions falling within 

decision categories ADLS 

1 to 3 and MO1 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

Page 58



 

DCR 18 To secure the proper 

management of the 

Council’s human resources 

except for functions falling 

within decision categories 

CE5 and ADLS 1 to 3 

 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

DCR 19 To exercise all other 

functions relating to the 

following services:  

Planning, Performance & 

Change, Democratic 

Services, Information 

Management, Corporate 

Complaints, Archives, The 

Executive and Cabinet 

Offices, the SHE team, and 

Legal Services, except for 

functions within decision 

categories ADLS 1 to 5 

 

Executive Director of 

Corporate Resources 

N/A 

DPPG1F 1 The functions of the Safety 

& Licensing Committee 

under paragraphs 2 and 3 

of its terms of reference. 

 

Director of Policy, 

Performance & 

GovernanceDirector of 

Finance 

N/A 

DPPG21 To publish standards for 

the whole Council, which 

will secure the efficient 

processing of information. 

 

Director of PeopleDirector 

of Policy, Performance & 

Governance 

N/A 

MO1 To make payments or 

award other benefits under 

Section 92 of the Local 

Government Act 2000 

(payments in respect of 

maladministration and 

related discretionary 

payments. 

Monitoring Officer Chief 

Executive, 

Chief Financial 

Officer and/or 

Director 

responsible for 

the service in 

respect of 

which a 

payment or 

other benefit is 

awarded. 

Page 59



 

MO2 To amend the Constitution 

in any way whatsoever in 

order to secure compliance 

with the law and the 

convenient, efficient and 

effective discharge of any 

Council function.  Such 

amendment to be reported 

to the Constitution 

Committee and reported to 

and ratified by the full 

Council (in respect of any 

non-executive function) or 

the Cabinet (in respect of 

any executive function). 

 

Monitoring Officer Chief 

Executive and 

any Director 

whose service 

is affected by 

any 

amendment to 

the 

Constitution. 

MO 3 The functions of the 

Constitution Committee to 

advertise for, interview and 

appoint persons as 

members of an 

Independent Remuneration 

Panel. 

 

Monitoring Officer Lead 

Members of 

the 

Constitution 

Committee. 

CFO 1 To manage the operations 

of the Gloucestershire Fire 

and Rescue Service. 

Chief Fire Officer Most relevant 

Cabinet 

Member(s) or 

Chief 

Executive for 

all decisions 

with financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

 

CFO2 To exercise all other 

functions relating to the 

areas of responsibility of 

the following services: 

Trading Standards, 

Coroners and Civil 

Protection 

Chief Fire Officer Most relevant 

Cabinet 

Member(s) or 

Chief 

Executive for 

all decisions 

with financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

 

Page 60



 

CFO3 

 

 

To sign warrants and 

authorise Officers to 

enforce the legislation 

referred to in the Trading 

Standards Legislation 

Master List held by the 

Assistant Director of Legal 

Services and to issue 

statutory notices in relation 

to that legislation.  

Chief Fire Officer N/A 

 DEEI: 1 The functions of the Safety 

and Licensing Committee 

except those within 

paragraphs 2, 3, 4 and 7 of 

its terms of reference and 

decision categories ADLS1 

to 3. 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure 

N/A 

 DEEI:  2 

 

 

To enforce the Trading 

Standards, Food, Animal 

Health and other legislation 

referred to in the Trading 

Standards Legislation 

Master List held by the 

Head of Legal Services  

and issue statutory notices 

in relation to that legislation 

 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure 

N/A 

DEEI: 4 

 

 

To be the Proper Officer in 

relation to functions under 

the Highways Act 1980. 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure 

N/A 

Page 61



 

DEEI: 5 

 

 

 

 

To exercise the functions 

falling within Planning 

Committee terms of 

reference 1 to 14 and 16 to 

25, except decision 

categories ADLS 1 to 3 of 

this Scheme of Delegation. 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure. 

(Note:  Where the 

Executive Director is an 

Officer whose 

responsibilities include any 

aspect of the management 

of any land or building to 

which an application made 

by the Council relates, or is 

responsible for a function 

(other than as planning 

authority) materially 

affected by any planning 

matter, this power is 

delegated to the 

appropriate senior officer). 

 

Head of Legal 

Services.  

DEEI: 6 

 

 

 

 

To exercise the functions 

of the Traffic Regulation 

Committee (terms of 

reference 1 to 12), except 

those falling within decision 

categories ADLS 1 to 3 of 

this Scheme of Delegation. 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure 

Head of Legal 

Services.  

DEEI: 7 Making agreements 
under Section 278 of the 
Highways Act (as 
amended) for the 
execution of highway 
works.  

Executive Director of 
Economy, Environment 
and Infrastructure 

Relevant 
Cabinet 
Member for 
all decisions 
with financial 
implications 
over 
£250,000. 

Page 62



 

DEEI: 8 

 

 

 

To exercise all other 

functions relating to the 

areas of responsibility of 

the following services: 

Development, Planning, 

Transport & Community 

Infrastructure, Road 

Safety, Registration, 

Libraries and Waste 

Management except 

decision categories ADLS 

1 to 3 (although, in cases 

when only an Officer other 

than the Assistant Director 

of Legal Services may 

institute proceedings, the 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment 

and Infrastructure may 

institute a prosecution 

once it has been 

authorised under ADLS 2). 

 

Executive Director of 

Economy, Environment and 

Infrastructure 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for all 

decisions with 

financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

 DASS 1 The functions of the Safety 

and Licensing Committee 

under paragraph 7 of its 

terms of reference. 

 

Executive Director of Adult 
Social Care  
 

N/A 

DASS 2 To exercise all other 

functions relating to the 

areas of responsibility of 

Adult Social Care except 

decision category HLDS1 

to 3. 

Executive Director of Adult 

Social Care 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for all 

decisions with 

financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

 

DCS1 The functions of the Safety 

and Licensing Committee 

under paragraph 4 of its 

terms of reference. 

 

Executive Director of 

Children’s Services 

N/A 

Page 63



 

DCS2 To exercise all other 

functions relating to the 

areas of responsibility of 

Children’s Services, 

Education and Learning 

except decision category 

HLDS1 to 3 and in relation 

to the commissioning of 

Children’s Services. 

Executive Director of 

Children’s Services 

 

Most relevant 

Cabinet 

Member(s) for 

all decisions 

with financial 

implications 

over £250,000 

 

ADLS1 To authorise the institution, 

defence withdrawal or 

settlement of any claims or 

legal proceedings, civil or 

criminal, the issue of 

cautions and to authorise 

the enforcement of any 

order made in those 

proceedings. 

 

Assistant Director Legal 

Services 

Director of any 

service area 

affected by 

such a 

decision. 

ADLS2 To authorise Officers of the 

County Council to 

prosecute or defend or 

appear in any legal 

proceedings (NB: The 

Assistant Director of Legal 

Services will authorise 

every decision to 

prosecute or defend such 

proceedings, including 

those which by law may 

only be instituted by 

another Officer). 

 

Assistant Director Legal 

Services 

Director of any 

service area 

affected by 

such a 

decision. 

Page 64



 

ADLS3 To authorise the 

withdrawal or settlement of 

any dispute between the 

Council and any third 

party, including those that 

have been referred to any 

statutory or non-statutory 

Tribunal or arbitrator (this 

includes authorising ex 

gratia payments not 

otherwise delegated). 

 

Assistant Director  Legal 

Services 

Director of any 

 service area 

affected by 

such a 

decision. 

ADLS4 To be the adjudicator for 

disputes under the Local 

Government Pension 

Scheme. 

 

Assistant Director Legal 

Services 

N/A 

ADLS5 The functions of the 

Commons and Rights of 

Way Committee under 

paragraphs 1, 2 and 19 or 

its terms of reference. 

 

Assistant Director  Legal 

Services 

Lead 

members 

DPH1 To exercise the functions 

conferred on the Director 

of Public Health by section 

73A of the National Health 

Service Act 2006 for the 

improvement of the health 

of the people of 

Gloucestershire 

Director of Public Health  

Page 65



 

GEN1 To enter into any contract 

for works and the supply of 

goods and services. 

Chief Executive, Executive 

Director, Director, Assistant 

Director or Head of Service 

or equivalent in relation  to 

their service areas. 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for 

decisions with 

financial 

implications in 

excess of 

£250,000 

 

GEN2 To take any decision under 

the Regulation of 

Investigatory Powers Act 

2000. 

 

Executive Director, 

Director, Assistant Director 

or Head of Service or 

equivalent in relation to 

their service areas. 

N/A 

GEN3 To do anything that is 

required for the effective 

management of staff and 

other resources within 

each Service of the 

Council. 

 

Executive Director, 

Director, Assistant Director 

or Head of Service or 

equivalent in relation to 

their service areas. 

N/A 

GEN4 To be the Proper Officer in 

relation to each Service of 

the Council 

Executive Director, 

Director, Assistant Director 

or Head of Service or 

equivalent in relation to 

their service areas. 

Relevant 

Cabinet 

Member for 

decisions with 

financial 

implications in 

excess of 

£250,000 

 

 

 [Updated to reflect current senior management structure and responsibilities]  

Page 66



 

SECTION 6 – JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 

 

The Cabinet has established the following Joint Committee to which it has delegated 

certain of its responsibilities 

 

6.1 Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee 

 

1. Pursuant to a partnership arrangements between Cheltenham Borough Council, Cotswold 

District Council, Gloucester City Council, Stroud District Council and Tewkesbury Borough 

Council, Forest of Dean District Council  and Gloucestershire County Council, the 

Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee was formed under Sections 101, 102 of 

the Local Government Act 1972 and under Part 1A Chapter 2 Section 9EB of the Local 

Government Act 2000 and pursuant to the Local Authorities (Arrangements for the 

Discharge of Functions (England) Regulations 2012 

 

2. The functions of the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee are as follows: 

 

2.1. Each of the Councils empowers the Joint Committee to discharge on their behalf the 

power to do anything it considers likely to achieve the promotion or improvement of the 

economic wellbeing of the area of Gloucestershire together with such additional 

functions as the respective constituent Councils may determine from time to time. 

 

2.2. To facilitate and enable collaboration between the local authorities on economic 

development and associated activities. 

 

2.3. In conjunction with the GFirst LEP Board, to formulate and agree the Gloucestershire 

Strategic Economic Plan GFirst LEP Plan (and Implementation Plans), the GFirst LEP 

EU Structural and Investment Fund Strategy, and other plans and strategies related to 

economic growth, and to work jointly to ensure their delivery. 

 

2.4. To lobby and carry out other activities that help achieve the promotion or improvement 

of the economic wellbeing of the area of Gloucestershire. 

 

2.5. To promote the vision contained in the Gloucestershire Strategic Economic Plan and to 

make recommendations to the GFirst LEP Board on any other matter relating to the 

economic wellbeing of Gloucestershire. 

 

2.6. To have insight and the opportunity to review the GFirst LEP Board’s activities and 

consider any further measures necessary to strengthen the relationship with the GFirst 

LEP Board. 

 

2.7. To seek the allocation of resources to achieve the promotion or improvement of the 

economic wellbeing of the area of Gloucestershire. 

 

Page 67



 

2.8. To ensure a co-ordinated approach to and liaise with the:- 

 

 Local Transport Board 

 County Strategic Planning and Infrastructure Group 

 LEP Investment Panel 

 EU Structural and Investment Fund Board 

 Business Rates Pool Arrangements 

 

and other relevant Groups/Boards as the respective constituent Councils may 

determine from time to time. 

 

2.9 To provide political and democratic accountability by: 

 Monitoring the delivery of each priority, plan, project or programme included in 

the SEP and by ensuring that action is taken to review and prepare revised 

action plans as necessary 

 Monitoring the annual SEP budget 

 Reviewing the annual SEP Report of GFirst LEP 

 Advising and making recommendations to the Accountable Body. 

 

3. The membership of the committee comprises  

 

3.1. one elected member from each partner authority on a ‘one member, one vote’ basis.   

Such member to be the leader (or other appointed executive member where executive 

arrangements are in place) from each partner authority. 

 

3.2. the Chair and one other Board member of GFirst LEP or Substitute Board Members 

notified in advance (non-voting). 

 

4. Each Committee member shall remain in office until removed or replaced by their appointing 

local authority, or in case of an executive member, until they cease to be a member of the 

Executive of the appointing local authority. 

 

5. Where a substitute member takes the place of a committee member who is an executive 

member of the appointing partner authority, the substitute must also be a member of the 

executive.  The substitute member shall have the same rights of speaking and voting at 

meetings as the member for whom the substitution is made. 

 

6. The Committee will meet formally in public session on a quarterly basis with informal 

meetings, workshops and visits arranged as and when required. 

 

7. The Committee may appoint working groups, comprising Gloucestershire Economic Growth 

Joint Committee members; officers from any of the partner authorities to consider specific 

matters and to report back to the committee with recommendations or any sub-committee 

Page 68



 

with recommendations.  Each partner authority may also send any of its officers to 

committee meetings to support its members or anyone invited to observe at meetings. 

 

8. A Chair and Vice-Chair will be elected at the first committee meeting and annually thereafter 

at the Annual General Meeting. 

 

9. The quorum for a meeting shall be four voting members.  If quorum is not reached within 30 

minutes of the start of the meeting, (or if quorum ceases to be present during a meeting), 

the meeting shall be adjourned to the same time and venue five business days later or to 

such other date, time and venue as the Chair (or other person who is chairing the meeting) 

shall determine. 

  
[Moved from section  3 to reflect the fact that the GJEGC does not fulfil a regulatory or non-

cabinet function] 

Page 69



 

SECTION 76 - GENERAL STATEMENT OF POLICY BY THE LEADER, THE FULL COUNCIL AND 

THE CABINET IN RESPECT OF THE DISTRIBUTION OF FUNCTIONS TO THE FULL COUNCIL, 

COUNCIL BODIES, CABINET MEMBER AND OFFICERS 

 

The Council, the Leader and Cabinet intend that Officers should be able to exercise any duty or 

power that could be exercised by them or any Council body.  Accordingly, where the law confers 

a function, duty or power on the Authority but no Officer has been expressly authorised to 

exercise that function, duty or power under the Scheme of Delegation, the Council, the Leader 

and Cabinet (insofar as it is within their remit) hereby authorise any Director and any person 

authorised by any of them, to exercise that function, duty or power on behalf of the Authority. 

 

Note: Where an Officer has been expressly authorised to exercise a function, duty or power, 

only that Officer and any other Officer authorised in accordance with paragraph 5.7 of 

Section 5, can exercise that function, duty or power. 

  

[Section renumbered to reflect insertion of new section 6] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 70



 

 

 

PART 4 

RULES OF PROCEDURE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Procedural Standing Orders 

 

• Rules on Access to Information About the Council’s Formal BusinessProcedure 

Rules 

 

• Policy Framework and Budget Procedure Rules 

 

• Cabinet Procedure Rules 

 

• Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

 

• Call-in Procedure Rules 

 

• Panel Operating Principles 

 

• Financial Regulations 

 

• Contract Standing Orders 

 

• Officer Employment Procedure Rules 

 

[Updated to address omissions and anomalies in current version] 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



 

 
 
 
 
 

 
PROCEDURAL STANDING ORDERS 

 

[No changes are proposed to Procedural Standing Orders 1 to 9] 

 

10. NOTICES OF MOTION 

 

10.1 Notice 

 

Except for motions which can be moved without notice under these Procedural 

Standing Orders and unless the Chair is of the opinion that the motion should be 

considered as a matter of urgency, written notice of motions for discussion at full 

Council meetings must be delivered to the Chief Executive not later than 10 a.m. eight 

clear working days before the date of the meeting.  Motions are not considered at the 

first annual meeting of a new Council. The Chief Executive will maintain a record of all 

motions submitted and the public may inspect that record except in respect of motions 

considered in the absence of the press and public.   

 

10.2 Where the Chief Executive received a motion, they will, where practicable, prepare a 

short accompanying note in respect of the proposals it contains setting out: 

a) Any implications for climate change 

b) Any financial or resource implications 

c) Any implications for human rights 

d) Any other pertinent factors the Chief Executive might wish to include in 

accordance with the Council’s agreed policy framework. 

 

10.3 Motion set out in the agenda for a meeting 

 

10.3.1 Motions for which proper notice has been given under this Procedural 

Standing Order will be listed on the agenda in the order in which they are 

received;   

 

10.3.2 Unless the Chair, in consultation with Group Leaders, decides otherwise, 

subject to Procedural Standing Order 10.8, there will be no time 

restrictions on motions from each political group (for the purposes of this 

Procedural Standing Order 10.2.2 only, all independent Councillors are 

considered as a political group);  

 

Page 72



 

10.3.3 If the Chief Executive considers that such a motion qualifies to be 

considered by the full Council in the absence of the press and public, the 

Chief Executive may decide appropriate agenda wording to avoid public 

disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 

 

10.4 Scope 

 

Motions must be about matters which are related to the responsibilities of the Council 

or which affect the County.  The Chair’s decision on whether or not a motion is relevant 

to the responsibilities of Council will be final. 

 

10.5 Subject to Procedural Standing Order 10.9, unless the Chair, in consultation with 

Group Leaders, decides otherwise a motion that has been properly notified and which 

has been moved and seconded will be discussed by full Council at the meeting for 

which notice has been given (excluding the first annual meeting of a new Council). 

 

10.6 If the motion relates to an executive function and whether or not it is discussed at full 

Council at that time, full Council may: 

 

10.6.1 Refer the motion to Cabinet who will consider the matter in the light of any 

views expressed by the full Council and advise the full Council of its 

decision; or 

 

10.6.2 Refer the motion to the relevant Scrutiny Committee who will consider the 

matter in the light of any views expressed by the full Council.  Following 

consideration, the Scrutiny Committee will refer the motion to Cabinet, 

Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member who will consider the matter in 

the light of any views expressed by full Council and the Scrutiny 

Committee and advise the full Council of its or their decision.   

 

10.7 If a motion is referred by full Council to the Cabinet or another Council body (or both 

under Procedural Standing Order 10.56.2) the proposer and seconder of the motion 

may attend the meeting of the Cabinet or other Council body (or both) and speak to the 

motion but not vote unless a Member of the Cabinet or other Council body.   

 

10.8 If a motion is referred by full Council to the Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member 

(either directly or via a Scrutiny Committee under Procedural Standing Order 10.56.2) 

the proposer and seconder of the motion may attend the meeting of the Scrutiny 

meeting and speak to the motion but not vote (unless a Member of the Scrutiny 

meeting) and/or submit in writing to the Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member, their 

views on the motion. 

 

10.9  The total period of time spent on motions on the day of a meeting shall not exceed two 

hours. However, debate on motions may be extended beyond the two hour limit to 

Page 73



 

allow those members who have indicated to the Chair, before the end of the two hour 

period, their intention to speak on the motion being debated at that time. The mover of 

the motion will then have the opportunity to sum up and the vote will take place. This 

Procedural Standing Order may not be suspended. 

 

10.10 In the event a motion has not been discussed at the meeting for which notice has been 

given, that notice of motion shall then be void. 

 

[Cross reference corrected within Procedural Standing Orders 10.7 and 10.8] 

 

11. MOTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE 

 

11.1 The following motions may be moved without notice: 

 

11.1.1 To appoint a Chair of the meeting; 

 

11.1.2 Concerning the accuracy of the minutes; 

 

11.1.3 To change the order of business in the agenda; 

 

11.1.4 To appoint a Council body or Member to a Council body arising from an 

item on the agenda for the meeting; 

 

11.1.5 To receive or adopt reports and recommendations of the Cabinet, Leader 

of the Council, Cabinet Member, a Scrutiny Committee, or, as appropriate, 

any other Council body or from Officers and any decision following from 

them; 

 

11.1.6 To amend or withdraw a motion but a Member who has already spoken 

on a motion being debated may not, during that debate, move or second a 

motion to this effect; 

 

11.1.7 To adjourn the meeting but a Member who has already spoken on a 

motion being debated may not, during that debate, move or second a 

motion to this effect; 

 

11.1.8 To adjourn the debate but a Member who has already spoken on a motion 

being debated may not, during that debate, move or second a motion to 

this effect; 

 

11.1.9 To proceed to the next business but a Member who has already spoken 

on a motion being debated may not, during that debate, move or second a 

motion to this effect; 

 

Page 74



 

11.1.10  That the question be put but a Member who has already spoken on a 

motion being debated may not, during that debate, move or second a 

motion to this effect; 

 

11.1.11  By the Chair not to allow another contribution to the debate from a 

Member named or to exclude a Member from the meeting under the 

Procedural Standing Order relating to Members’ conduct; 

 

11.1.12  To exclude the public and media in accordance with the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules; 

 

11.1.13  That the subject of debate be referred to the Cabinet or appropriate 

Council body; 

 

11.1.14  To extend the time limit for speeches; 

 

11.1.15  That a Member be invited to remain at the meeting under the Procedural 

Standing Order relating to Members’ interests; 

 

11.1.16  To suspend a Procedural Standing Order except Procedural Standing 

Order 10.8;  

 

11.1.17  To give the consent of the Council where such consent is required. 

 

11.2 Standing Order 12 shall not apply to motions moved under this Procedural Standing 

Order, which shall be proposed, seconded and voted upon without debate, save that:   

 

11.2.1 The proposer of a motion may speak for up to three minutes to explain 

why they have moved their motion;  

 

111.2.2 If a motion is moved under this Procedural Standing Order during a 

debate, the proposer of the substantive motion may speak for up to three 

minutes against this motion.  If they decline to speak against this motion, 

the Chair may consent to one other Member speaking for up to three 

minutes against the motion moved under this Procedural Standing Order. 

 

[Typographical error corrected within Procedural Standing Orders 11.2.2] 

 

[No changes are proposed to Procedural Standing Orders 12 to 20] 

 

21. PHOTOGRAPHY AND AUDIO RECORDINGS OF MEETINGS 

 

Page 75



 

Filming, photographing and audio recordings of meetings is permitted. Please contact 

Democratic Services (tel 01452 425230) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the 

meeting if necessary. 

 

21.1 Proceedings of the Council, the Cabinet and Committees may be recorded for 
broadcast live on the internet via the Council’s website. Such meetings will be 
broadcast in full, excluding any confidential items which may need to be 
considered in the absence of the press and public.  
 

21.2 Filming, photographing and audit recording of any meeting of the Council, its 
Cabinet or any Committee is permitted unless the press and public are excluded 
from that part of the meeting or there is good reason not to do so, as directed by 
the Chair of the meeting. 
 

21.3 Any filming must be done as unobtrusively as possible from a single fixed 
position without the use of any additional lighting; focusing only on those actively 
participating in the meeting and having regard also to the wishes of any member 
of the public present who may not wish to be filmed.  

 
21.4 As a matter of courtesy, anyone wishing to film proceedings is asked to advise 

the Chair in advance (by contacting Democratic Services) so that all those 
present may be made aware that it is happening and have the opportunity to be 
excluded. 

 

[Section updated in order to make fully compliant with GDPR] 

 

[No changes are proposed to Procedural Standing Orders 22 to 28] 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 76



 

RULES ON ACCESS TO INFORMATION ABOUT THE COUNTY COUNCIL’S FORMAL BUSINESS 

 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

 

 

POLICY FRAMEWORK AND BUDGET PROCEDURE RULES 

 

1. THE FRAMEWORK FOR CABINET DECISIONS 

 

The Council as a whole will be responsible for the adoption of each of the plans which comprise 

the Policy Framework and the budget (which includes both the annual revenue budget and the 

capital programme) as set out in Article 4 of the Constitution.  Once a Policy Framework and 

budget is in place, it will be for the Cabinet to implement it. 

 

Below is a list of the documents currently prescribed by law as forming the Council's Policy 

Framework.  In accordance with Article 4 of the Constitution, the full Council may add or remove 

other policies. 

 

  

Plan and or Strategy 

 

 

Statutory Reference 

1.1. Council StrategyBest Value 

Performance Plan. 

Regulation 4 (c) of the Local Authorities 

(Functions and Responsibilities) (England) 

Regulations 2000Section 6(1) Local 

Government Act 1999. 

2. Medium Term Financial 

Strategy and Budget 

Regulation 4 (b) of the Local Authorities 

(Functions and Responsibilities) (England) 

Regulations 2000 

23. Children and Young People's 

Services Plan. 

Children and Young People’s Plan (England) 

Regulations 2005. 

3. Community Care Plan. Section 46 National Health Service and 

Community Care Act 1990. 

4. Community Strategy. Section 4 Local Government Act 2000. 

4. Youth Justice Plan Section 40 Crime and Disorder Act 1998. 

5. Crime and Disorder 

ReductionCommunity Safety 

Strategy. 

Sections 5 and 6 of the Crime and Disorder Act 

1998. 

6. Early Years Development Plan. Section 6 School Standards and Framework 

Act 1998. 

7. Education Development Plan. Section 120 School Standards and Framework 

Act 1998. 

86. Local Transport Plan. Section 108 (3) Transport Act 2000. 

9. Youth Justice Plan. Section 40 Crime and Disorder Act 1998. 

Page 77



 

107. Plans and Strategies which 

together comprise the 

Development 

Plan.Development Plan 

Documents 

Section 54 Town and Country Planning Act 

1990Section 15 of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

8. Library Services Plan Section 1(2) of the Public Libraries and 

Museums Act 1964 

9. Pay Policy Statement Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 and the 

Local Government Transparency Code 2014 

 

[Updated to reflect changes in legislation] 

 

 

2. PROCESS FOR DEVELOPING THE FRAMEWORK 

 

2.1 The Cabinet will publicise a timetable for making proposals to the full Council for the 

adoption of a plan, strategy or budget that forms part of the Policy Framework and 

budget, and its arrangements for consultation after publication of those initial 

proposals.  The Chair of the relevant Scrutiny Committee(s) will be notified at the same 

time.  The Cabinet will ensure that the consultation process is adequate and allows for 

meaningful dialogue with those involved. 

 

2.2 At the end of the period of consultation, the Cabinet will then draw up proposals having 

regard to the responses to consultation.  If a relevant Scrutiny Committee wishes to 

respond to the Cabinet during the consultation process then it may do so.  Additionally, 

at the request of full Council or Cabinet, a relevant Scrutiny Committee may assist in 

the policy development by undertaking in depth analysis of policy options.  The Cabinet 

will take any response from a Scrutiny Committee into account in drawing up firm 

proposals for submission to the full Council, and its report will reflect the comments 

made by consultees and the Cabinet’s response. 

 

2.3 Once the Cabinet has approved its final proposals, they will be referred to the full 

Council for decision. 

 

2.4 The full Council will consider the proposals of the Cabinet and may adopt them, amend 

them, refer them back to the Cabinet for further consideration, or substitute its own 

proposals in their place.  Any amendment to the proposed budget must be certified by 

the Chief Financial Officer at least 5 working days prior to the relevant full Council 

meeting as being reasonably calculated and sufficiently deliverable as to be robust and 

sustainable in the medium term. 

 

[Updated to ensure that proposed budget amendments are robust and fully costed] 

 

3. FULL COUNCIL DECISION AND LEADER’S OBJECTION 

Page 78



 

 

3.1 The full Council’s decision on the Policy Framework or budget will be publicised and a 

copy given to the Leader of the Council.  The notice of decision will be dated and will 

state either that the decision will be effective immediately (if the full Council accepts the 

Cabinet’s proposals without amendment) or (if the Cabinet’s proposals are not 

accepted without amendment), that the full Council’s decision will become effective on 

the expiry of five working days after the publication of the notice of the decision, unless 

the Leader of the Council objects to it in that period. 

 

3.2 If the Leader of the Council objects to the decision of the full Council, then they shall 

give notice to the Chief Executive to that effect stating the reasons for the objection. 

 

3.3 If the Leader makes an objection under paragraph 3.2, the Chief Executive shall 

convene a further meeting of the full Council, which must reconsider its decision.  The 

decision shall not be effective until after that meeting has been held. 

 

3.4 If the Leader of the Council considers the matter does not necessitate the calling of a 

special Council meeting, then the matter will be considered at the next ordinary 

meeting of the full Council. 

 

3.5 In the event that a special meeting is required, that meeting must take place within 21 

days of the receipt of the Leader’s written objection. 

 

3.6 At the relevant full Council meeting, its decision will be reconsidered in the light of the 

objection, which will be available in writing for the full Council. 

 

3.7 The full Council will, at that meeting, make its final decision on the matter on the basis 

of a simple majority.  The decision shall be made public and shall be implemented 

immediately. 

 

4. DECISIONS OUTSIDE THE POLICY FRAMEWORK OR BUDGET 

 

4.1 The Cabinet, Leader of the Council, a Cabinet Member or an Officer acting under 

delegated powers, may only take decisions that accord with the Council’s Policy 

Framework and budget. 

 

4.2 Only the full Council may make a decision that would be contrary to the Policy 

Framework or contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, the budget approved by the 

full Council unless paragraph 5 of these rules applies to that decision. 

 

4.3 Where there is doubt about whether a decision that is to be taken by or on behalf of the 

Cabinet accords with the Policy Framework or the budget, the Cabinet, Leader of the 

Council, Cabinet Member or any Officer(s) discharging Cabinet functions, shall take 

advice from the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Financial Officer.  If the advice of either 

Page 79



 

of those Officers is that the decision would not accord with the Policy Framework or 

budget, the decision must, unless paragraph 5 applies, be made by the full Council. 

 

5. URGENT DECISIONS OUTSIDE THE POLICY FRAMEWORK OR BUDGET 

 

5.1 Occasionally, the Cabinet, Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member or an Officer acting 

under delegated powers, may need to make a decision that is contrary to the Council’s 

Policy Framework but so urgent that it cannot be deferred until the next scheduled 

ordinary meeting of the full Council.  In these circumstances, the Cabinet, Leader of the 

Council, Cabinet Member or an Officer, may make the decision (subject to compliance 

with the Rules on Access Information about the County Council’s Formal Business set 

out in Part 4 of the Constitution) if the Leader of the Council has obtained a statement 

in writing from the Chair of the Scrutiny Committee whose terms of reference include 

the power to review or scrutinise the proposed decision or, in that person’s absence, 

from the Chair or Vice-Chair of the County Council, that the decision needs to be made 

urgently.  Before a decision is taken, there shall have been prior consultation with 

Group Leaders. 

 

5.2 The law does not allow the Cabinet to make a decision that is contrary to or not wholly 

in accordance with the Council’s budget; a plan or strategy approved by the Council in 

relation to their borrowing or capital expenditure; or the financial regulations and 

standing orders it has made to regulate expenditure under the budget, borrowing and 

capital expenditure.  In any of these cases, if a decision must be made as a matter of 

urgency before the next scheduled ordinary meeting of the full Council, an 

extraordinary meeting of the full Council must be convened. 

 

5.3 Whenever the Cabinet, Leader of the Council, a Cabinet Member or an Officer acting 

under delegated powers, makes a decision under the procedure set out in paragraph 

5.1 of these rules, the Cabinet must make a report to the next ordinary meeting of the 

full Council, which must describe the decision, the emergency or other circumstances 

in which it was made and the reasons for the decision. 

 

5.4 When the Cabinet, Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member or an Officer acting under 

delegated powers, makes an urgent decision, it must comply in every respect with the 

Rules on Access to Information about the County Council’s Formal Business, which 

should be read in conjunction with these rules. 

 

6. THE CALL-IN OF DECISIONS OUTSIDE THE POLICY FRAMEWORK AND BUDGET 

 

6.1 An executive decision that has not been implemented may be “called-in” under the 

Call-in Procedure Rules on the ground that it would be contrary to or not wholly in 

accordance with the Council’s budget or Policy Framework.  In these circumstances, 

the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Financial Officer shall prepare a report, which they 

shall provide to the Cabinet and the relevant Scrutiny Committee that is charged with 

Page 80



 

considering the call-in stating whether, in their opinion, the decision does not accord 

with the Council’s budget or Policy Framework. 

 

6.2 If the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Financial Officer report that an executive decision 

would be contrary or not wholly in accordance with the Council’s budget or the Policy 

Framework, the executive decision shall be of no effect and the matter shall be referred 

to the full Council for decision (unless the Cabinet, Leader of the Council, Cabinet 

Member or an Officer acting under delegated powers chooses to and may properly 

proceed under paragraph 5.1 of these rules). 

 

 

  

Page 81



 

CABINET PROCEDURE RULES 

 

1. MEMBERSHIP OF THE CABINET 

 

1.1 The Cabinet is not a committee of the County Council. 

 

1.2 The Leader of the County Council will appoint the Cabinet, which will comprise: 

 

 The Leader of the County Council;  

 Between two and nine other County Councillors. 

 

1.3 The Cabinet may not co-opt other Members on to the Cabinet. 

 

1.4 No substitute Cabinet Members are permitted. 

 

1.5 A vacancy on the Cabinet arises when a Cabinet Member resigns from this position of 

responsibility.  The Leader will appoint a new Cabinet Member at the earliest 

opportunity.  Pending a new appointment, the Leader of the County Council will 

allocate temporary responsibility for the vacant Cabinet Member’s area of responsibility 

to one or more of the remaining Members of the Cabinet. 

 

1.6 The Leader of the County Council may designate any Member of the Cabinet to take 

temporary responsibility for a Member’s area of responsibility should that Member be 

absent for other than a short period. 

 

1.7 The Leader will allocate responsibilities for areas of responsibility to each Member of 

the Cabinet; these are set out in Part 3, Section 4 of the Constitution. 

 

1.8 The Leader of the Council will also decide the precise content of each general area of 

responsibility. 

 

2. THE ROLE OF THE CABINET 

 

2.1 The role of the Cabinet is described in Part 2 of the Constitution. 

 

2.2 The Cabinet may not: 

 

(a) Take decisions on matters reserved to the full Council;  

 

(b) Take decisions on matters that may not by law be determined by the 

Cabinet; 

 

3. PUBLICATION OF PROPOSED DECISIONS AND DECISIONS TAKEN 

 

Page 82



 

All proposed decisions and decisions taken will be published in accordance with the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules. 

 

4. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 

 

Where the Leader of the County Council has a conflict of interest, this should be dealt with as 

set out in the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members in Part 5 of the Constitution. 

 

 

5. CABINET MEETINGS 

 

5.1 The Cabinet will decide upon its schedule of meetings.  It will meet at Shire Hall, 

Gloucester or, exceptionally, at another location to be agreed by the Cabinet. 

 

5.2 The Cabinet will observe those requirements of the Access to Information Procedure 

Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 

5.3 The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet shall be four. 

 

5.4 When the Cabinet makes an urgent decision it must comply in every respect with the 

Rules on Access to Information about the County Council’s Formal Business, which 

should be read in conjunction with these rules. 

 

5.5 In addition to scheduled meetings, a meeting of the Cabinet may be called by the 

Leader of the Council, a Cabinet Member, the Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer 

or the Executive Director of Corporate Resources. 

 

5.6 The Leader of the Council or a Cabinet Member may cancel any meeting of the 

Cabinet.  If this occurs, all Members of the Council shall be notified of the cancellation 

and the reasons for it by email as soon as possible. 

 

6. KEY DECISIONS 

 

6.1 A key decision is a decision that may be taken by the Cabinet, a Cabinet committee, 

Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member or any Officer under powers delegated to them 

and which, if implemented, would be likely to: 

 

6.1.1 Result in the County Council incurring expenditure that is, or the making 

of savings that are, significant having regard to the County Council’s 

budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or 

 

6.1.2 Be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an 

area comprising two or more county electoral divisions in the county. 

 

Page 83



 

6.2 As a general rule, a decision will fall into paragraph 6.1.1 if the value of any 

expenditure or saving exceeds £500,000 unless the County Council’s Chief Financial 

Officer and Monitoring Officer certify that it would not be a key decision and state their 

reasons for this conclusion in writing. 

 

6.3 In view of the importance of key decisions, they should normally only be taken by the 

Cabinet and then only if the rules set out in paragraph 5 of the Rules on Access to 

Information about the County Council’s Formal Business have been complied with.  In 

certain special cases, the Cabinet, Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member or an 

Officer acting under delegated powers may depart from the rules that govern the 

making of key decisions.  The circumstances in which this may be done are set out in 

the Rules on Access to Information about the County Council’s Formal Business. 

 

7. CABINET AGENDA 

 

7.1 The Leader of the County Council and Deputy Leader, in consultation with the Chief 

Executive, will determine the agenda for meetings of the Cabinet. 

 

7.2 Any Member of the Cabinet may require the Chief Executive to place an item on the 

agenda of the next meeting of the Cabinet. 

 

7.3 Any Member of the Council may ask the Leader of the Council to put an item on the 

agenda of a Cabinet meeting.  If the Leader agrees, the item will be considered at its 

next meeting.  The notice of the meeting will give the name of the Member who asked 

for the item to be placed on the agenda.  The individual Member may attend the 

meeting and speak on the item. 

 

7.4 An item will be placed on the agenda of the next available meeting of the Cabinet 

where a Scrutiny Committee has resolved that an item ought to be considered by the 

Cabinet. 

 

7.5 The Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Financial Officer may require an item to be 

included for consideration on the agenda of a Cabinet meeting and may require the 

Chief Executive to call such a meeting in pursuance of their statutory duties. 

 

8. HOW ARE THE CABINET MEETINGS CONDUCTED? 

 

Who presides? 

 

8.1 If the Leader of the County Council is present, they will preside, and if they are absent 

the Deputy Leader will preside.  If both are absent then a person nominated by the 

Leader of the County Council will preside. 

 

Who may attend? 

Page 84



 

 

8.2 Members of the Council who are not Cabinet Members may attend meetings of the 

Cabinet and may speak with the consent of the Cabinet.  The presumption is that this 

facility will be used, predominately, to enable a local Member access on occasions 

when an item being considered is likely to relate to the electoral division the Member 

represents. 

 

8.3 The Cabinet may invite any individual (whether or not a County Councillor) to attend a 

meeting of the Cabinet to assist or advise the Cabinet but such an individual shall not 

have voting rights. 

 

Authority of the person presiding 

 

8.4 At a meeting of the Cabinet, the ruling of the person presiding on the meaning or 

application of the Constitution or as to any proceedings of the Cabinet shall be final and 

shall not be challenged by any Member.  Such ruling will have regard to the purposes 

of the Constitution contained in Article 1. 

 

9. QUESTIONS AT CABINET MEETINGS 

 

9.1 At each meeting of the Cabinet there shall be up to 30 minutes set aside for written and 

urgent written questions. 

 

9.2 A County Councillor or any person who lives or works in the county, or is affected by 

the work of the County Council, may ask the Leader of the Council or a Cabinet 

Member a written question on any matter which relates to any item on the Cabinet 

agenda for that meeting. 

 

9.3 A written copy of the question must have been delivered to the Chief Executive by 4pm 

three clear working days before the date of the meeting. 

 

9.4 An urgent written question may be asked by a member of the public about any item on 

the Cabinet agenda for that meeting, which the Chair considers could not have been 

reasonably submitted by the deadline for the receipt of written questions, provided that 

they give notice of the question to the Chief Executive by 12 noon the day before the 

meeting.  

 

9.5 Response 

 

 A written answer will be provided to a written question and will be given to the 

questioner and to Cabinet Members before the meeting. The question and answer will 

then be taken as read at the meeting itself and need not be read out. 

 

Page 85



 

9.6 A copy of all written questions and written answers circulated at the meeting will be 

attached to the signed copy of the minutes of the meeting. 

 

9.7 Supplementary Questions 

 

 A person who has put a written question may, with the consent of the person presiding, 

ask a supplementary question on the same subject. 

 

9.8 An answer to a supplementary question will take the form of: 

 

9.8.1 A direct oral answer; 

 

9.8.2 Where the information required is contained in a Council document or 

other published work, the questioner will be given the name of that 

document and if the person presiding considers it appropriate the relevant 

part of the document will be read out; 

 

9.8.3 If the information required is not easily available, a written answer will be 

sent to the questioner and circulated to all Cabinet Members. 

 

9.9 There will be no discussion on any question from a member of the public. 

 

9.10 Written questions may be rejected and urgent written questions need not be answered 

when the person presiding considers that they: 

 

 9.10.1 Are defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 

 

9.10.2 Are substantially the same as a question that has been put to a meeting of 

the Cabinet or Council in the past six months; or  

 

9.10.3 Would require the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 

 

In every case, the person presiding must specify the reason for rejecting a question or 

not requiring an answer to be given to it. 

 

If the person presiding decides not to allow a further question as provided herein and 

has given reasons for the decision, then the decision shall be final. 

 

10. BUSINESS CONDUCTED AT MEETINGS OF THE CABINET 

 

10.1 At each meeting of the Cabinet the following business will be conducted: 

 

10.1.1 Receipt of the minutes of the last meeting if available; 

 

Page 86



 

10.1.2 Declarations of interest, if any 

 

10.1.3 Matters referred to the Cabinet by a Scrutiny Committee for 

reconsideration by the Cabinet in accordance with the provisions 

contained in the Scrutiny Procedure Rules or the Policy Framework and 

Budget Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the Constitution; 

 

10.1.4 Consideration of reports from the Scrutiny Committees (on matters 

requiring consideration);  

 

10.1.5 Matters set out in the agenda for the meeting indicating which are key 

decisions and those which are not in accordance with the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 

10.2 The Cabinet may require any Member of the Cabinet or a Director to report to the 

Cabinet on any executive matter which the Cabinet specifies. 

 

11. CONSULTATION 

 

All reports to the Cabinet from any Member of the Cabinet or an Officer on proposals 

relating to the Policy Framework or budget must contain details of the nature and 

extent of consultation with stakeholders, relevant Scrutiny Committees and, where 

appropriate, relevant local County Councillors and on the outcome of that consultation.  

Reports about other matters will set out the details and outcome of consultation as 

appropriate.  The level of consultation required will be appropriate to the nature of the 

matter under consideration. 

 

12. CABINET LIAISON ARRANGEMENTS 

 

12.1 In the event that Cabinet Members are drawn from more than one political group, each 

Cabinet Member will liaise with a nominated member of the political group(s) forming 

part of the administration to which they do not belong to secure effective consultation 

with all members of the political groups that comprise the administration. 

 

12.2 In the event that Cabinet Members are drawn from only one political group, each 

Cabinet Member will liaise with a nominated member of the other political group(s) to 

secure effective consultation.  This liaison shall include briefings for those nominated 

members by Cabinet Members in at least six scheduled meetings per year. 

 

13. APPOINTMENT OF CABINET PANELS 

 

13.1 The Cabinet, Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members or Officers acting under 

delegated powers may appoint standing and/or ad hoc Cabinet Panels comprising 

Page 87



 

Cabinet and non-Cabinet County Councillors, Officers and external participants to help 

with Cabinet business. 

 

13.2 The Cabinet Panel will work within the operating principles set out in the Panel 

Operating Principles in part 4 of the Constitution. 

 

14. OTHER GROUPS AND CABINET BUSINESS 

 

14.1 The Cabinet will support county-wide groups, which provide a forum to develop links 

with other agencies and to give focus for specialist services. 

 

14.2 A list of such groups will be maintained by the Chief Executive. 

 

[Updated to reflect current practice – the shadow arrangements described here ceased in 2017] 

 

 

  

Page 88



 

SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES 

 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

 

 

CALL-IN PROCEDURE RULES 

 

[No changes are proposed to sections 1-9] 

 

10. CALL-IN OF URGENT DECISIONS AND URGENT IMPLEMENTATION 

 

10.1 On rare occasions, decisions will need to be implemented so urgently that pre-

implementation review is not appropriate. 

 

10.2 The implementation of a A decision will be urgent if any delay, likely to be caused by 

the process, would seriously prejudice the interest of the County Council or of the 

public or the interests of any person to whom the decision relates.  

 

10.3 The record of the implementation of the decision and notice by which it is made public 

must contain an explanation as to why the implementation of the decision needs to be 

treated with such urgency. 

 

10.4 The Chair of Council and of the relevant Scrutiny Committee must agree that the 

implementation of the decision is urgent and cannot reasonably be deferred. If either is 

unavailable then the Vice-Chair of that body must agree on their behalf. 

 

10.5 Where these circumstances arise at least five County Councillors may signify in writing 

to the Chief Executive their wish for a post-implementation review of the decision and 

its urgent decision.  Reasons must be given. 

 

10.6 In these circumstances, call-in has no effect on the implementation of the urgent 

decision and relates to reviewing the nature of the decision and the circumstances 

behind it.  The outcome of the Scrutiny Committee review will be reported to the 

Cabinet.  

 

[Reworded to provide additional clarity on urgent implementation] 

 

[No changes are proposed to paragraph 11] 

Page 89



 

PANEL OPERATING PRINCIPLES 

 

Referred to in Cabinet Procedure Rule 13 and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 21 

 

References to Panels includes references to Scrutiny Task Groups and Working Groups 

 

1. 1. Panels may be established from time to time by the Cabinet, Leader of the 

Council, Cabinet Member or Officer acting under delegated powers or a committee 

to undertake standing or task-based work in support of the Cabinet, Leader of the 

Council, Cabinet Member or a committee. Panels may also be established jointly by 

the Cabinet, Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member or a committee.  The full 

Council will not establish panels and may instead call upon the Cabinet, Leader of 

the Council, Cabinet Member and/or a committee to support its work. Occasionally 

full Council may wish to set up a working group outside of the scrutiny 

arrangements and these will follow the panel operating principles where 

appropriate. 

 

2. In order to assist in understanding its role, every Panel will be named in 

keeping with the following: 

 

[Task or standing function] Cabinet Panel 

 

[Task or standing function] Scrutiny Task Group 

 

[Task or standing function] Joint Panel  

 

[Task or standing function] [e.g., Constitution] Panel 

 

[Task or standing function] Working Group 

 

3. Each Panel will operate on a time limited basis unless otherwise agreed 

by the Cabinet, Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member and/or committee. 

 

2. 4. Panels will not have any decision taking powers. 

 

3. 5. If appropriate the task to be undertaken by the Panel will be scoped and defined 

beforehand, together with the timeframe within which the work of the Panel is to be 

completed and the reporting time for the outcome of the Panel’s work. Each Panel 

will operate on a time limited basis unless otherwise agreed by the Cabinet, Leader 

of the Council, Cabinet Member and/or committee. 

Page 90



 

 

 6. Panels will be politically balanced where possible, unless otherwise agreed by 

Cabinet, the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member or committee.   

  

 Note: At the first meeting of each new Council, the numbers of Members 

on Panels will be reviewed 

  

4. 7. All members, except Members of the Cabinet, may serve on Scrutiny Task 

Groups. 

 

 8. Cabinet Panels will be chaired by the Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member 

as appropriate.   

  

 Joint Panels will be chaired as agreed by: 

 The Cabinet, Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member; and 

 The committee 

  

5. Other panels will be chaired as they determine. 

 

6. 9. Panel meetings may be conducted informally and electronic mail may be used 

extensively to exchange information.  In consultation with other Panel members, the 

Chair of the Panel will determine whether any meetings of the Panel should be held 

in public.  In the event the Chair of a Panel is not a County Councillor, the majority 

of those members of the Panel who are County Councillors will determine whether 

any meetings of the Panel should be held in public 

 

7. 10. Panels may request the attendance of relevant County Councillors and 

Officers at meetings to assist in the issues under discussion.  People from outside 

the Council may be invited to attend also for particular issues as appropriate. 

 

 11. Where a Scrutiny Task Group is tasked with looking at an education 

related issue then the Panel must offer to co-opt at least one additional Member 

from amongst the Church and Parent Governor members on the Children and 

Families Scrutiny Committee. 

  

 12. Each Panel may co-opt additional people in addition to those at paragraph 

11 above, provided co-options may only be made if the person co-opted has 

particular knowledge or expertise in the functions being conducted by that Panel. 

 Co-options may be made for a specified period, for specified meetings or for 

specific items.   

Page 91



 

  

 13. Each Panel will appoint a Lead Officer who will seek to ensure effective 

progress and communication in respect of the work of the Panel.    

 

8. 14. Subject to consultation with the Head of Democratic Services, the The 

administration of Panels will be supported by Democratic Services. 

 

 

Note:  Member forums will be Panels as described above or formal decision 

making bodies, e.g. full Council; Cabinet; Planning Committee.  The proceedings 

of these forums are regulated by the Constitution 

 

In addition, one other type of member forum may be formed by an Officer at 

Director or Head of Service level or above.  This type of forum will be called a 

Group and will be informal in all respects and not regulated by the Constitution.  

The Officer forming the Group will regulate and support the Group in all respects. 

 

[Simplified to provide more flexibility in the composition of panels and working groups] 

 

 

  

Page 92



 

FINANCIAL REGULATIONS 

 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

 

CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS 

 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

 

  

Page 93



 

OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES 

 

 

1.1 Declarations: 

 

(a) The Council will require any candidate applying for an appointment as an 

employee of the Council to declare on the Council’s standard application 

form whether they are related to an existing County Councillor, an 

employee of the Council or the partner of such persons;  

 

(b) No candidate so related to a County Councillor or an Officer will be 

appointed without the authority of the relevant Director or an Officer 

nominated by them. 

 

1.2 Seeking support for Appointment 

 

 Subject to paragraph (b) below: 

 

(a) The County Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or indirectly 

seeks the support of any County Councillor for any appointment with the 

County Council.  This rule will be included in any recruitment information 

as well as the County Council’s standard application form; 

 

  No County Councillor or Officer will seek support for any person for any 

appointment with the County Council;  

 

(b) A request for, and the provision of, a written reference will not constitute 

seeking support for the purposes of this rule. 

 

2. THE CABINET’S RIGHT TO BE CONSULTED ABOUT THE APPOINTMENT AND 

DISMISSAL OF SENIOR OFFICERS 

 

2.1 By law, the Cabinet must be consulted before the Head of Paid Service, a statutory 

chief officer, a non statutory chief officer or a deputy chief officer (all as defined in 

section 2 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989) is appointed or dismissed. 

 

2.2 Upon determining who should be appointed to or dismissed from such a post, whether 

by the Appointments Committee or otherwise, the Chief Executive will write to every 

Member of the Cabinet giving notice of who it is intended should be appointed to, or 

dismissed from employment with the Council giving notice of: 

 

(a) The name of the person it is intended should be appointed or dismissed;  

 

(b) Any other particulars relevant to the appointment or dismissal  

Page 94



 

 

Note: Detailed requirements are set out in the Local Authorities 

(Standing Orders) Regulations 1993 (SI 1993/202), the Local 

Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 (SI 

2001/3384) and the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) 

(England)(Amendment) Regulations 2015. 

 

2.3 The Leader of the Council must inform the Chief Executive in writing within five days of 

receiving written notice of an intended appointment or dismissal under these rules 

whether any Member of the executive objects to that appointment or dismissal. 

 

2.4 On the sixth day after the Chief Executive gave written notice of an intended 

appointment or dismissal, the Head of Paid Service will transmit any objection received 

from the Leader of the Council to the Appointments Committee or to the officer making 

the appointment or dismissal under delegated powers. 

 

2.5 The Appointments Committee or the officer making the appointment or dismissal under 

delegated powers will consider whether any objection received by the Chief Executive 

from the Leader is material and well founded and will then proceed to decide whether 

to confirm the decision (or, in the case of the Head of the Paid Service, the Monitoring 

Officer or Chief Finance Officer, recommend to Council) that an Officer be appointed or 

dismissed (or, where that decision rests with County Council,to recommend to Council 

that an Officer be appointed or dismissed). 

 

3. APPOINTMENT OF POLITICAL ASSISTANTS 

 

3.1 Each of the three largest political groups may (whilst they remain “qualifying groups” in 

accordance with the requirements of S.9 Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and 

regulations made thereunder) appoint one Officer to act as a political assistant.  Such 

appointments will be made in accordance with the wishes of the political group making 

the appointment but will be on terms as to remuneration and period of office that 

comply with S.9 of the 1989 Act. 

 

3.2 Appointments of political assistants may only be made in accordance with wishes of 

the relevant political group making the appointment and no arrangements will be made 

to allocate a political assistant to a non-qualifying group or to allocate more than one 

political assistant to any political group. 

 

4. OTHER APPOINTMENTS 

 

The appointment of officers other than to posts mentioned at item 2 of Table 3.024 in 

Part 3 of the Constitution (Duties of the Appointments Committee) and paragraph 3 

above (Appointment of Political Assistants) will be the responsibility of the Head of Paid 

Page 95



 

Service or Director concerned or their nominee and may not be made by County 

Councillors. 

 

5. DISCIPLINARY ACTION 

 Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer 

 

5.1 The Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer may not be 

dismissed by the Authority unless full council has approved that dismissal and the 

procedure set out in the following paragraphs has been complied with. 

 

5.2 The Authority must invite independent persons appointed pursuant to section 28(7) of 

the Localism Act 2011 to form a Panel for the purpose of advising the Authority on 

matters relating to the dismissal of the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and 

the Chief Finance Officer.  

 

5.3 The invitation may be extended to independent persons appointed by another 

Authority. 

 

5.4 The Authority must appoint to the Panel those independent persons who accept the 

invitation in the following priority order- 

 an independent person who has been appointed by the Authority and is a local 

government elector; 

 any other independent person who has been appointed by the Authority; 

 an independent person who has been appointed by another Authority or 

Authorities. 

 

5.5 The Panel may consist of more than two persons but need not do so. 

 

5.6 The Panel must be appointed at least 20 days before the meeting of full council to 

consider the disciplinary action against the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer 

or the Chief Finance Officer. 

 

5.7 Before taking a vote at the full council meeting whether or not to approve a dismissal 

the Authority must take into account, in particular- 

 any advice, views or recommendations of the Panel; 

 the conclusions of any investigation into the proposed dismissal; and 

 any representations from the relevant Officer. 

 

5.8 Any remuneration, allowances or fees paid by the Authority to an independent person 

appointed to the Panel must not exceed the level of remuneration, allowances or fees 

payable to that independent person in respect of that person’s role as an independent 

person under the Localism Act 2011. 

 

Page 96



 

5.9. County Councillors may not be involved in the disciplinary action against any officer 

save as part of the duties of the Appointments Committee, or as referred to in Table 3.1 

above or in these Officer Employment Procedure Rules. 

 

[Updated to reflect Local Government Employment Regulations] 

 

  

Page 97



 

PART 5 

CODES AND PROTOCOLS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Protocol on Public Address at Planning Committee 

 

 Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

 Code of Conduct for Employees 

 

 Protocol on the relationship between Members and Officers 

 

 Members’ Protocol on Gifts and Hospitality 

 

 Members’ Allowances Scheme 

 

 Protocol on decisions to be taken by Executive Members 

 

 Management structure 

 

 Petition Scheme 

 

[Proposed to remove Management Structure in order to avoid having to update the constitution 

every time a change occurs] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 98



 

PROTOCOL ON PUBLIC ADDRESS AT PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

 

  
MEMBERS’ CODE OF CONDUCT 

 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

 
 

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR EMPLOYEES 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

 

 

Members' Protocol on Gifts and Hospitality 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

 

Members Allowances Scheme 2019/20 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

 
Parental leave for councillors 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

 

PROTOCOL ON DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN BY EXECUTIVE MEMBERS 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

 

SENIOR MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE 

A diagram of the senior management structure is set out on the Council’s website at 

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2088017/gcc_1234-cluster-organisational-

structure_dev34.pdf 

[Section deleted] 

 

Gloucestershire County Council Petition Scheme 

 

[No changes are proposed to this section] 

 

REMOTE MEETINGS PROTOCOL AND PROCEDURE RULES 
[No changes are proposed to this section] 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Updates to GCC Constitution

